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GROUP FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Revenue by Products
Year ended 30 November 2010

Geographical Segments
Year ended 30 November 2010

Indium
56%

Other  
products

40%

China/
Hong Kong

75%

USA/Europe
17%

(In US$’000) FY2010 FY2009 FY2008

For the year  
Turnover 23,295 9,124 29,821
Earnings/(loss) before interest expense, tax, depreciation and 

amortisation (EBITDA) 1,226 (2,738) (6,987)
Net profit/(loss) before tax 622 (3,543) (7,309)
Net profit/(loss) after tax 312 (3,676) (7,199)
Net profit/(loss) margin (%) 1.3% (40.3%) (24.1%)

At year end    
Total assets 38,065 37,183 40,188
Net tangible assets 37,004 36,332 36,697
Total equity 37,004 36,332 36,697
Total liabilities 1,061 851 3,491
Cash and short-term deposits 35,090 23,180 17,629
Debt-to-Equity ratio (times) 0.03 0.02 0.10

Per share    
Earnings/(loss) per share (cents)
- basic 0.05 (0.72) (1.96)
- fully diluted 0.05 (0.72) (1.96)
Gross dividend per share (cents) - - -
Net assets value (cents) 6.03 5.92 9.97
Net tangible assets (cents) 6.03 5.92 9.97

Return (%)    
Return to turnover 1.3% (40.3%) (24.1%)
Return on shareholders' equity 0.8% (10.1%) (19.6%)
Return on total assets 0.8% (9.9%) (17.9%)

Other by 
product

4%

Japan/Korea
8%
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The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of UNIONMET (SINGAPORE) LIMITED (“Unionmet” or the “Company”) is committed 
to high standards of corporate governance within the Company and its subsidiary companies (the “Group”). The Board 
confirms that it has generally adhered to the principles and guidelines as set out in the Code of Corporate Governance 
2005 (the “Code”), and where applicable, relevant and practicable to the Group. This Report describes the Group’s 
corporate governance practices with specific reference to each of the principles of the Code and explains the areas of 
non-compliance.

1.	 BOARD MATTERS

	 BOARD’S CONDUCT OF ITS AFFAIRS

Principle 1: 	 Every Company should be headed by an effective Board to lead and control the Company. The Board 
is collectively responsible for the success of the company. The Board works with Management to 
achieve this and the Management remains accountable to the Board. 

	
The Board oversees the Group’s overall strategic plans, key operational initiatives, major funding and investment 
proposals, financial performance reviews and corporate governance practices. The primary function of the Board is 
to protect and enhance long-term value and returns for its shareholders. 

Board approval is required for matters such as corporate restructuring, mergers and acquisition, major investments 
and divestments, material acquisitions and disposals of assets, major corporate policies on key areas of operations, 
acceptances of bank facilities, release of the Group’s quarterly, half-year and full-year results and interested person 
transactions of a material nature.

The Board conducts regular scheduled meetings on a quarterly basis to coincide with the announcement of the 
Group’s quarterly results. Ad-hoc Board meetings are convened as and when they are deemed necessary in-
between the scheduled meetings. The Articles of Association of the Company (the “Articles”) provide for Directors 
to convene meetings by way of tele-conferencing, video conferencing, audio or other similar communications 
equipment. When a physical Board meeting is not possible, timely communication with members of the Board can 
be achieved through electronic means or via circulation of written resolutions for approval by the relevant members 
of the Board or Board Committees.

To assist in the execution of its responsibilities, the Board has delegated specific authorities to the various Board 
Committees namely the Audit Committee (“AC”), Nominating Committee (“NC”) and Remuneration Committee 
(“RC”). All Committees are chaired by an independent Director and consist all non-executive Directors. Further 
details of the scope and functions of the various Board Committees are set out in this Report.

Details of Board and Board Committee Meetings held during the financial year ended 30 November 2010 are 
summarised in the table below:

Name of Director
Board

Meetings
AC

Meetings
NC

Meetings
RC

Meetings
Number of Meetings 4 4 1 1
Zeng Fuzu 4 4 1 1
Huang Wei1 1 NA NA NA
Meng Limin 4 NA NA NA
Huang Guozhi 3 NA NA NA
Kelvin Valery Chia Hoo Khun 3 3 1 1
Low Weng Keong 4 4 1 1

Notes : 
NA:	 Not Applicable
1.	 Mr. Huang Wei resigned as Director of the Company on 22 November 2010 and was appointed as an Honorary 

Member of the Board. 
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	 BOARD COMPOSITION AND GUIDANCE 

Principle 2:	 There should be a strong and independent element of the Board, which is able to exercise objective 
judgment on corporate affairs independently, in particular, from Management. No individual or 
small group of individuals should be allowed to dominate the Board’s decision-making. 

The Board currently has five (5) Directors, two (2) of whom are independent Directors. 

Name of Director Position

1. Zeng Fuzu Chairman & Non-Executive Director
2. Meng Limin Executive Director & Chief Executive Officer 
3. Huang Guozhi Non-Executive Director
4. Kelvin Valery Chia Hoo Khun Independent Director
5. Low Weng Keong Independent Director

The size and composition of the Board are reviewed on an annual basis by the NC to ensure that it has an appropriate 
mix of expertise and experience, and collectively possesses the necessary core competencies for effective 
functioning and informed decision-making. The NC also strives to ensure that the size of the Board is conducive for 
discussions and to facilitate decisions. The NC, with the concurrence of the Board, considers the current Board size 
of five (5) members as appropriate, having regard to the nature and scope of the Group’s operations. Each Director 
has been appointed on the strength of his calibre, experience and stature and brings a diversity of experience and 
expertise in areas such as accounting, finance, law, business and management experience, understanding of the 
industry and customers and familiarity with regulatory requirements, in contributing to the development of the 
Group strategy and performance of its business. 

The profile of the Directors is set out on pages 10 and 11 of this Annual Report. 

Non-Executive Directors contribute to the Board by monitoring and reviewing Management’s performance against 
goals and objectives.  Their views and opinions provide alternative perspectives to the Group’s business. When 
challenging Management proposals or, decisions, they bring independent judgement to bear on business activities 
and transactions involving conflicts of interest and other complexities.

The NC is of the opinion that the Board is able to exercise objective judgment on corporate affairs independently and 
no individual or small group of individuals dominates the Board’s decision-making process.

Directors are kept informed of the relevant new laws, regulations and changing commercial risks from time to time. 
Relevant updates, news releases issued by the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) and the 
Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority (“ACRA”) will also be circulated to the Board for information. 

Newly appointed Directors will be briefed on the business activities and the strategic direction of the Group. Directors 
also have the opportunity to meet with Management to gain a better understanding of the Group’s business 
operations. 

	 CHAIRMAN, CO-CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER (“CEO”)

Principle 3:	 There should be a clear division of responsibilities at the top of the Company – the working of the 
Board and the executive responsibility of the Company’s business – which will ensure a balance 
of power and authority, such that no one individual represents a considerable concentration of 
power. 

The roles of Chairman and CEO are separate and these positions are held by Mr. Zeng Fuzu and Mr. Meng Limin 
respectively to ensure a balance of power and accountability. 
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Mr. Zeng, as Chairman, focuses on strategic business opportunities for the Company. As Chairman, Mr. Zeng 
also ensures that  Board meetings are held when necessary, setting the  Board meeting agenda in consultation 
with the Group Financial Controller and Company Secretaries, assisting in ensuring compliance with the Group’s 
guidelines on corporate governance, acting as a facilitator at Board meetings and maintaining regular dialogue with 
Management on all operational matters. 

Mr. Meng, the CEO of the Company, implements the Board’s decision and assumes the executive responsibility of 
the day-to-day management of the Company.

Mr. Huang Wei, formerly Co-Chairman/Non-executive Director of the Company, resigned from the Board on 22 
November 2010. In view of his contribution to the Group as one of the founding members which led to the listing of 
the Company, Mr. Huang has been conferred the title “Honorary Member” of the Board. 

	 BOARD MEMBERSHIP

Principle 4:	 There should be a formal and transparent process for the appointment of new Directors to the 
Board.

The NC, regulated by a set of written terms of reference, comprises three (3) Directors, the majority of whom, 
including the Chairman, are independent. The NC members are:

a)  	 Kelvin Valery Chia Hoo Khun (Chairman) 
b)  	 Low Weng Keong 
c)  	 Zeng Fuzu 
	
The principal functions of the NC are as follows:

a)	 reviewing and recommending to the Board the structure, size and composition of the Board and Board 
Committees; 

b) 	 making recommendation to the Board on all Board appointments, including nomination of the Directors 
having regard to the Director’s contribution and performance (e.g. attendance, level of participation, business 
performance of the Group);

c) 	 determining annually the independence of the Directors; and
d) 	 evaluating Board’s performance as a whole.

Pursuant to its terms of reference, the NC also reviews whether each Director has been adequately carrying out his 
duties as a Director of the Company, particularly when Directors serve on multiple boards. Besides obtaining written 
confirmations from Mr. Zeng Fuzu, Mr. Kelvin Chia and Mr. Low Weng Keong, the NC also considers a Director’s 
level of participation at meetings and whether he has given sufficient time and attention in addressing matters or 
issues raised to the Board. 

The NC has adopted and implemented the “Process for Selection and Appointment of New Directors”.  This provides 
the procedure for identification of potential candidates, evaluation of candidates’ skills, knowledge and experience, 
assessment of candidates’ suitability and recommendation for nomination to the Board. Upon the appointment of 
each Director, an Executive Director is provided a service agreement for an initial period of three years, setting out 
the terms and conditions of his appointment. For a Non-executive Director, a formal letter will be issued setting out 
the terms and conditions of his appointment. 

The NC meets at least once a year.

Pursuant to Article 89 of the Company’s Articles, one-third of the Board of Directors will retire from office by 
rotation and be subject to re-election at the Company’s Annual General Meeting (“AGM”).  In addition, the Article 
also provides that every Director shall retire at least once every three (3) years. Article 88 of the Company’s Articles 
provides that a newly appointed Director must retire and submit himself for re-election at the following AGM upon 
his appointment. Thereafter, he is subject to re-election at least once every three (3) years.

Report on Corporate Governance



UNIONMET (SINGAPORE) LIMITED
annual report 2010

21

Mr. Zeng Fuzu, Mr. Meng Limin and Mr. Low Weng Keong, pursuant to Article 89, will be retiring by rotation at the 
forthcoming AGM and being eligible, will be offering themselves for re-election. 

The NC, having considered the attendance and participation of the Directors at the Board and Board Committee 
meetings, in particular, their contribution to the business and operations of the Company as well as Board processes, 
has nominated the abovenamed persons for re-election at the forthcoming AGM. The Board has accepted the NC’s 
recommendation and the abovenamed Directors will be offering themselves for re-election. 

Each member of the NC shall abstain from voting on any resolutions and making any recommendations and/or 
participating in respect of his re-election as Director. 

The NC has adopted the Code’s definition of “independent” Director and guidelines as to relationships which would 
deem a Director not to be independent.  The NC also deems a director who is directly associated with a substantial 
shareholder as non-independent although such a relationship has not been expressly adopted in the Code as one 
that may deem a director not to be independent.

The NC has reviewed the independence of the Board members with reference to the guidelines set out in the Code 
and has determined Mr. Kelvin Valery Chia Hoo Khun and Mr. Low Weng Keong to be independent and free from 
any of the relationships outlined in the Code that could interfere with the exercise of their independent judgements.  
The remaining non-executive directors namely Mr. Zeng Fuzu and Mr. Huang Guozhi (both substantial shareholders 
of the Company) are deemed non-independent by the NC.

BOARD PERFORMANCE

Principle 5:	 There should be a formal assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the 
contribution by each Director to the effectiveness of the Board.

The NC has adopted a formal system of assessing the performance and effectiveness of the Board as a whole. The 
evaluation of the Board is conducted annually and is in the form of a questionnaire relating to the size and composition 
of the Board, the Board’s access to information, Board processes and accountability, Board performance in relation 
to discharging its principal responsibilities and standards of conduct of the Board members. The Board has taken the 
view that the financial indicators as recommended by the Code to be included as part of the performance criteria for 
Board evaluation might not be appropriate as these are more of an assessment of Management’s performance and 
therefore less applicable to the Board. 

As part of the process, the Directors have to complete the Board Evaluation Questionnaire which is then collated 
by the Company Secretaries and presented to the NC. The NC will also discuss the feedback with the Board 
members. 

For FY2010, the NC is generally satisfied with the Board evaluation results, which indicated areas for improvement 
with no significant problems being identified. The NC has discussed these results with the Board and the Board has 
agreed to work on these areas that require improvement. The NC will continue to review its procedure, effectiveness 
and development from time to time. 

ACCESS TO INFORMATION 

Principle 6:	 In order to fulfill their responsibilities, Board members should be provided with complete, adequate 
and timely information prior to Board meetings and in an on-going basis.

 
All Directors have unrestricted access to the Company’s records and information. From time to time, they are 
furnished with detailed information concerning the Group to enable them to be fully cognisant of the decisions and 
actions of the Group’s executive Management. 
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The agenda for Board meetings is prepared in consultation with the Chairman. As a general rule, detailed Board 
papers are prepared for each meeting and are normally circulated in advance prior to each meeting. The Board 
papers include sufficient background and information from Management on financial, business and corporate issues 
to enable the Directors to be properly briefed on issues to be considered at Board meetings. 

All Board members have separate and independent access to the advice and services of the Company Secretaries, 
who are responsible to the Board for ensuring that Board procedures are followed and that applicable rules and 
regulations are complied with. All Board members also have separate and independent access to the senior 
Management of the Company and the Group at all times.

Board members are aware that they, whether as a group or individually, in the furtherance of their duties, can take 
independent professional advice, if necessary, at the Company’s expense.

At least one (1) of the Company Secretaries will attend all meetings of the Board and the Board Committees and 
ensure that Board procedures are followed and that applicable rules and regulations are complied with. 

	

2.	 REMUNERATION MATTERS

	 PROCEDURES FOR DEVELOPING REMUNERATION POLICIES

Principle 7: 	 There should be a formal and transparent procedure for fixing the remuneration packages of 
individual Directors. No Director should be involved in deciding his own remuneration. 

The RC, regulated by a set of written terms of reference, comprises three (3) non-executive Directors, the majority 
of whom, including the Chairman is independent. The RC members are:

a)  	 Kelvin Valery Chia Hoo Khun (Chairman) 
b)  	 Low Weng Keong 
c)  	 Zeng Fuzu 

The RC meets at least once annually. 

The principal functions of the RC are as follows:

a)	 recommending to the Board a framework of remuneration for the Board and key executives with the aim 
of building a capable and committed Board and Management team through competitive compensation and 
focused management and progressive policies;

b)	 determining specific remuneration packages and terms of employment for each executive Director; 
c)	 reviewing and recommending Directors’ fees for non-executive Directors, taking into account factors such as 

their effort and time spent, and their responsibilities; 
d)	 recommending to the Board long-term incentive schemes which may be set up from time to time; and
e)	 carrying out other duties as may be agreed by the RC and the Board.

If required, the RC will seek expert advice from within or outside of the Company on the remuneration of all 
Directors.

LEVEL AND MIX OF REMUNERATION

Principle 8:	 The level of remuneration should be appropriate to attract, retain and motivate the Directors needed 
to run the Company successfully but companies should avoid paying more for this purpose. A 
significant proportion of executive Directors’ remuneration should be structured so as to link 
rewards to corporate and individual performance. 
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In setting remuneration packages, the Company takes into consideration the remuneration and employment 
conditions within the industry and in comparable companies, as well as the Group’s relative performance and the 
performance of individual Directors. 

The remuneration of Mr. Meng Limin, Executive Director, as set out in his three-year service agreement commencing 
20 February 2009, consists of a salary and a performance bonus to be determined at the discretion of the Board of 
Directors. Mr. Meng’s service agreement is subject to automatic renewal for another two-year term on the same 
terms and conditions upon the expiry thereof (unless otherwise terminated by either party giving not less than three 
months’ notice in writing to the other).

	 DISCLOSURE ON REMUNERATION

Principle 9:	 Each Company should provide clear disclosure of its remuneration policy, level and mix of 
remuneration, and the procedure for setting remuneration, in the company’s annual report. It 
should provide disclosure in relation to its remuneration policies to enable investors to understand 
the link between remuneration paid to Directors and key executives, and performance. 

	 Directors

The fees and remuneration paid to each of the Directors of the Company for the financial year ended 30 November 
2010 are set out below. A breakdown of the level and mix of the remuneration of the Directors is as follows: 

FY2010
Fees Salary Bonus

Other 
benefits TotalDirectors’ remuneration

  % % % % %
S$250,001 to S$500,000
Meng Limin - 86 7 7 100

Below S$250,000
Huang Wei 86 12 - 2 100
Zeng Fuzu 100 - - - 100
Huang Guozhi 100 - - - 100
Kelvin Valery Chia Hoo Khun 100 - - - 100
Low Weng Keong 100 - - - 100

There were no employees of the Group who are immediate family members of a Director, the CEO or a substantial 
shareholder, and whose remuneration exceeds S$150,000 during the year ended 30 November 2010.

The Company does not have a long-term incentive or share option scheme in place. 

Key Executives

Details of remuneration paid to the key executives of the Group (who are not Directors) for the year ended 30 
November 2010 are all below S$250,000. A breakdown of the level and mix of the remuneration of the key executives 
is as follows:
	

Name of executive Salary Bonus
Other 

benefits Total
% % % %

Lee Mei San 87 7 6 100
Tang Yuanguang 27 61 12 100
Liu Xiaoming 27 60 13 100
Li Gengguo 27 58 15 100
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The remuneration for the executive Directors and the key executives comprises a basic salary component and a 
variable component, which is the performance bonus, based on the performance of the Group as a whole and their 
individual performance. 

The annual review of the compensation of Directors and key executives is carried out by the RC to ensure that their 
remuneration commensurate with their performance, giving due regard to the financial and commercial health and 
business needs of the Group. 

The RC has recommended to the Board an amount of S$320,000 as Directors’ fees for the year ending 30 November 
2011, payable quarterly in arrears. These recommendations have been endorsed by the Board and will be tabled at 
the forthcoming Annual General Meeting for shareholders’ approval.  The Executive Director does not receive any 
Directors’ Fees.

No Director is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

For FY2010, the RC is satisfied with the remuneration packages of the CEO and key executives set out in their 
respective service agreements and letters of appointment and has recommended the same for Board approval. The 
Board has accepted the RC’s recommendation accordingly. 

In view of Mr. Huang Wei’s past contribution which led to the current listing of the Company, the RC has  
recommended an ex-gratia payment of S$25,000 to Mr. Huang and the Board has accepted the RC’s 
recommendation. 

3.	 ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

	 ACCOUNTABILITY

Principle 10:	 The Board should present a balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s 
performance, position and prospects. 

The Board provides to the shareholders, a balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s performance, 
position and prospects through the presentation of the annual financial statements and results announcements on 
a quarterly basis.

Management provides the Board with appropriately detailed management accounts of the Group’s performance, 
position and prospects on a timely basis in order for the Board to discharge its duties effectively. 

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Principle 11:	 The Board should establish an Audit Committee with written terms of reference, which clearly set 
out its authority and duties. 

The AC, regulated by a set of written terms of reference, comprises three (3) Non-Executive Directors, the majority 
of whom, including the Chairman is independent. The AC members are:

a)  	 Low Weng Keong (Chairman) 
b)  	 Kelvin Valery Chia Hoo Khun 
c)  	 Zeng Fuzu

The AC members bring with them invaluable managerial and professional expertise in the financial, legal and 
business management fields. The Board is of the view that the members of the AC is appropriately qualified, having 
the necessary accounting and related financial management experience as the Board interprets such qualifications 
to discharge their responsibilities. 
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The AC meets at least four (4) times a year and as and when deemed appropriate to carry out its functions.

The AC carries out the functions set out in the Code and the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50. The AC also 
monitors proposed changes in accounting policies; reviews the internal audit functions and adequacy of the Group’s 
internal controls; reviews interested person transactions; and discusses accounting implications of major transactions 
including significant financial reporting issues and judgements so as to ensure the integrity of the financial statements 
of the Company and any formal announcements relating to the Company’s financial performance. 

In addition, the AC reviews with the external auditors the audit plan, including the nature and scope of the audit before 
the audit commences, their evaluation of the system of internal controls, their audit report and their management 
letter and Management’s response. To do so, the AC meets regularly with the Group’s external auditors and 
Management to review accounting, auditing and financial reporting matters so as to ensure that an effective system 
of control is maintained in the Group.

It is also the duty of the AC to review and approve future hedging policies, instruments used for hedging and foreign 
exchange policies and practices of the Group, if applicable. The Group has in place a zinc-hedging policy to which 
Management adheres. 

The Company has put in place a Whistle-Blowing Programme whereby staff may in confidence, raise their concerns 
about possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other matters. The objective of the Programme is to 
ensure that arrangements are in place for independent investigation of such concerns and for appropriate follow-up 
actions to be taken. There were no reports of whistle-blowing received in FY2010.

The AC has full access to and cooperation by Management and has full discretion to invite any executive Director or 
executive officer to attend its meetings. 

The AC meets with the external auditors and internal auditors separately, at least once a year, without the presence 
of Management. 

For FY2010, the AC has met up with the Group’s external and internal auditors without the presence of Management. 
Both the internal and external auditors confirm that they had full access to and received the co-operation and 
assistance of Management. 

The AC has reviewed the non-audit related work carried out by the external auditors during the current financial year, 
which comprises tax services and is satisfied that their independence and objectivity has not been impaired by the 
provision of those services.

The AC, with the concurrence of the Board, has recommended the re-appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as the 
external auditors of the Company at the forthcoming AGM. 

INTERNAL CONTROLS 

Principle 12:	 The Board should ensure that Management maintains a sound system of internal controls to 
safeguard shareholders’ investments and the Company’s assets.

 
The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the overall internal control framework, but recognises that no cost 
effective internal control system will preclude all errors and irregularities, as a system is designed to manage rather 
than to eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can provide only reasonable and not absolute 
assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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INTERNAL AUDIT

Principle 13:	 The Company should establish an internal audit function that is independent of the activities it 
audits. 

The Board recognizes that it is responsible for maintaining a system of internal control processes to safeguard 
shareholders’ investments and the Group’s business and assets. The systems that are in place are intended to 
provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatements or loss, and including the safeguarding 
of assets, the maintenance of proper accounting records, the reliability of financial information, compliance with 
appropriate legislation and best practices, and the containment of business risks. The effectiveness of the internal 
financial control systems and procedures at present are monitored by Management. 

The internal audit function of the Group has been outsourced to an independent Certified Public Accountants firm. 
The AC reviews and approves the internal audit plan. The internal auditors report directly to the Chairman of the 
AC on internal audit matters and to the CEO on administrative matters. The AC has reviewed the adequacy of 
the internal audit matters and is satisfied that they are sufficiently resourced and able to perform their function 
effectively and objectively. 

The Board believes that the system of internal control is adequate to meet the needs of the Group in its current 
business environment.

4.	 COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

	 GREATER SHAREHOLDER PARTICIPATION

Principle 14:	 Companies should engage in regular, effective and fair communication with shareholders. 

Principle 15:	 Companies should encourage greater shareholder participation at AGMs, and allow shareholders 
the opportunity to communicate their views on various matters affecting the Company.

In line with the continuous disclosure obligations pursuant to the Singapore Exchange Listing Rules and the Singapore 
Companies Act, it is the policy of the Board that all shareholders should be informed in a comprehensive manner all 
material developments that impact the Group on a timely basis. 

The Company communicates pertinent information to its shareholders on a regular and timely basis through:

SGXNet announcements and press releases on major developments of the Group;•	

Financial statements containing a summary of the financial information and affairs of the Group for the relevant •	
quarters and full-year via SGXNet; 

Annual reports that are issued to all shareholders. •	

The Group’s website at www.unionmet.com.sg from which shareholders can access information on the •	
Group. The website provides, inter alia, all publicly disclosed financial information, corporate announcements, 
press releases, annual reports, and profiles of the Group.

In addition, shareholders are encouraged to attend the shareholders’ meetings to ensure a greater level of shareholder 
participation and for them to be kept up to date on the Group’s strategies and goals. The Notice of the AGM or 
Extraordinary General Meeting (as the case may be) is despatched to shareholders, together with explanatory notes 
or a circular on items of special business, at least 14 days before the meeting. Each item on special business included 
in the notice of the meeting is accompanied, where appropriate, by an explanation for the proposed resolution.
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If any shareholder is unable to attend the meeting, he is allowed to appoint up to two (2) proxies to vote on his 
behalf at the meeting through proxy forms which are sent together with the Annual Report or Circular as the case 
may be. The duly completed and signed proxy form is required to be submitted 48 hours before the meeting at the 
Company’s registered office. 

The Board views the AGM as the principal forum for dialogue with shareholders, being an opportunity for shareholders 
to voice their views to, raise issues to and seek clarification from the Board of Directors or Management regarding 
the Company and its operations. 

The Chairmen of the AC, NC and RC are normally available at the Company’s AGM to address shareholders’ 
questions relating to the work of these Committees. The Company’s external auditors are also be invited to attend 
the AGM and are available to assist the Directors in addressing any relevant queries by the shareholders relating to 
the conduct of the audit and the preparation and content of their auditors’ report.

5.	 SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS 

The Group has adopted an internal compliance code of conduct to provide guidance to its Directors, key officers and 
employees regarding dealings in the Company’s securities and the implication of Insider Trading. 
	
The Group prohibits the Directors and employees to trade in the Company’s securities, during the period beginning 
one (1) month or two (2) weeks before the date of the announcement of the full-year or quarterly results respectively 
and ending on the date of the announcement of the relevant results. Directors and employees are also advised 
against dealing in securities when they are in possession of any unpublished material price-sensitive information of 
the Group. The internal compliance code also discourages trading on short-term consideration. The Group confirms 
that it has adhered to its policies on securities transactions for FY2010. 

 
6.	 INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS 
		

The Company has adopted an internal policy governing procedures for the identification, approval and monitoring of 
interested person transactions (“IPTs”). All IPTs are subject to review by the AC at its quarterly meetings.

The IPTs for the financial year ended 30 November 2010 are as follows:

(In US$’000)

Name of Interested Person

Aggregate value of all IPTs during 
the financial year under review 

[excluding transactions less 
than $100,000 and transactions 

pursuant to the IPT Mandate (or a 
shareholders’ mandate for IPTs under 
Rule 920 of the New Listing Manual)]

Aggregate value of all IPTs under 
the IPT Mandate (or a shareholders’ 

mandate for IPTs under Rule 920 
of the New Listing Manual) during 

the financial year under review 
(excluding transactions less than 

$100,000)
Sales to Liuzhou Nonferrous 
Group (“LNG”) 196 -

7.	 MATERIAL CONTRACTS

There were no material contracts of the Company, or its subsidiary involving the interests of the Chairman, CEO, 
any Director or controlling shareholder except for the service agreement entered into between the Company and 
the Executive Director & CEO. 

Report on Corporate Governance
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8.	 RISK AND MANAGEMENT

The Company does not have a Risk Management Committee. However, Management regularly reviews the 
Company’s business and operational activities to identify areas of significant business risks as well as appropriate 
measures to control and mitigate these risks. Management reviews all significant control policies and procedures 
and highlights all significant matters to the AC and the Board.

The Group’s financial risk management is disclosed under Note 22 of the Notes to the Financial Statements on 
pages 66 to 69 of the Annual Report. 

9.	 Use of Proceeds from the Initial Public Offer and Rights Issue.

The Board of Directors refers to the net initial public offering (“IPO”) proceeds of US$22 million raised from the IPO 
of the Company’s shares in January 2007.

As at 30 November 2010, there has been no change in the Company’s utilization of its IPO’s proceeds since last 
reported as follows:

Intended Use

Amount 
Allocated
US$’000

Amount 
Utilised
US$’000

Balance
Amount
US$’000

Expansion of indium ingot production capacity 4,000 - 4,000
Secure additional sources of raw material supply in areas 

rich in zinc and indium 6,100 - 6,100
Undertake R&D in high value-added products of indium 

ingots 3,500 3,500 -
General working capital requirements 8,400 8,400 -
Total 22,000 11,900 10,100 (a)

Note: 

(a) 	 Due to the financial crisis and adverse market for indium, applications of these IPO proceeds have been deferred until there 
are sustainable improvements.

The net proceeds of US$3.27 million (S$4.71 million) raised from the rights issue have not been utilised as at  
30 November 2010.

Report on Corporate Governance
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The Directors are pleased to present their report to the members together with the audited consolidated financial 
statements of Unionmet (Singapore) Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) and the 
balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended 30 November 2010.

Directors

The Directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are:

Zeng Fuzu
Meng Limin
Huang Guozhi
Kelvin Valery Chia Hoo Khun
Low Weng Keong

Arrangements to enable Directors to acquire shares and debentures

Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any arrangement whose objects 
are, or one of whose object is, to enable the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of 
shares or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

Directors’ interests in shares and debentures

The following Directors, who held office at the end of the financial year, had, according to the register of Directors’ 
shareholdings required to be kept under Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50, an interest in shares of the 
Company and related corporations (other than wholly-owned subsidiaries) as stated below:

Direct interest Deemed interest

Name of Director

At the 
beginning of 
financial year 

At the end of  
financial year

At the 
beginning of 
financial year 

At the end of  
financial year

The Company
Ordinary shares

Zeng Fuzu 93,391,918 93,391,918 111,401,702 111,401,702
Meng Limin –   –   10,750,000 10,750,000
Huang Guozhi –   –   47,778,889 47,778,889

There was no change in any of the above-mentioned interests between the end of the financial year and 21 December 
2010.

Except as disclosed in this report, no director who held office at the end of the financial year had interests in shares, share 
options, warrants or debentures of the Company, or of related corporations, either at the beginning of the financial year, 
or at the end of the financial year.

Directors’ contractual benefits

Except as disclosed in the financial statements, since the end of the previous financial year, no director of the Company 
has received or become entitled to receive a benefit by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation 
with the director, or with a firm of which the director is a member, or with a company in which the director has a 
substantial financial interest.

Directors’ report
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Share options

There were no options granted during the financial year to subscribe for unissued shares of the Company or its 
subsidiaries.

No shares have been issued during the financial year by virtue of the exercise of the options to take up unissued shares 
of the Company and its subsidiaries.

There were no unissued shares of the Company and its subsidiaries under option at the end of the financial year.

The Company does not have any share option scheme.

Audit committee

The Audit Committee (“AC”) carries out the functions in accordance with Section 201B(5) of the Singapore Companies 
Act, Cap 50, the SGX-ST Listing Manual and the Code of Corporate Governance. The AC also monitors proposed changes 
in accounting policies, reviews the internal audit functions and the adequacy of the Group’s internal controls; reviews 
interested person transactions; and discusses accounting implications of major transactions including significant financial 
reporting issues and judgements so as to ensure the integrity of the financial statements of the Company and any formal 
announcements relating to the Company’s financial performance.  In addition, the AC reviews with the external auditors 
the audit plan, including the nature and scope of the audit before the audit commences, their evaluation of the system 
of internal controls, their audit report and their management letter and management response.  To do so, the AC meets 
regularly with the Group’s external auditors and its executive management to review accounting, auditing and financial 
reporting matters so as to ensure that an effective system of control is maintained in the Group.

The AC has full access to and cooperation by Management and has full discretion to invite any executive director or 
executive officer to attend its meetings.

The AC has met with the internal auditors and external auditors once separately, without the presence of the 
Management.

The AC has reviewed the non-audit related work carried out by the external auditors during the current financial year, 
which comprised tax services and is satisfied that their independence and objectivity has not been impaired by the 
provision of those services.

Further details regarding the AC are disclosed in the Report on Corporate Governance.

Auditors

Ernst & Young LLP have expressed their willingness to accept reappointment as auditors.

On behalf of the Board of Directors:

Zeng Fuzu
Director

Meng Limin
Director

Singapore
23 February 2011
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We, Zeng Fuzu and Meng Limin, being two of the Directors of Unionmet (Singapore) Limited (the “Company”), do hereby 
state that, in the opinion of the Directors,

(i)	 the accompanying consolidated statement of comprehensive income, balance sheets, statements of changes in 
equity, and consolidated cash flow statement together with notes thereto are drawn up so as to give a true and fair 
view of the state of affairs of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) as at 30 November 2010 
and the results of the business, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and the changes in equity of the 
Company for the financial year ended on that date, and

(ii)	 at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts 
as and when they fall due.

On behalf of the Board of Directors:

Zeng Fuzu
Director

Meng Limin 
Director

Singapore
23 February 2011

Statement by Directors 
Pursuant to Section 201(15) of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap.50
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To the Members of Unionmet (Singapore) Limited

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Unionmet (Singapore) Limited (the “Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), set out on pages 33 to 74, which comprise the balance sheets of the Group and 
the Company as at 30 November 2010, the statements of changes in equity of the Group and the Company, the statement 
of comprehensive income and cash flow statement of the Group for the year then ended, and a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory notes. 

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards. This 
responsibility includes devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable 
assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly 
authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair profit and loss account and 
balance sheet and to maintain accountability of assets; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making 
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion,

(i)	 the consolidated financial statements of the Group, and the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of 
the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore Financial Reporting 
Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 30 
November 2010 and the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and the changes in equity of the 
Company for the year ended on that date; and 

(ii)	 the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company incorporated in Singapore of which 
we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

Ernst & Young LLP
Public Accountants and
Certified Public Accountants
Singapore
23 February 2011

Independent Auditors’ Report
For the financial year ended 30 November 2010
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Note 2010 2009
$ $

Revenue 23,294,720 9,123,548

Cost of sales (19,933,934) (7,687,803)

Gross profit 3,360,786 1,435,745

Other income 3 404,949 233,892
Selling and distribution expenses (199,965) (92,267)
General and administrative expenses (2,631,505) (3,801,276)
Other expenses 4 (312,740) (1,318,669)

Profit/(loss) before tax 5 621,525 (3,542,575)

Income tax expense 6 (309,774) (133,561)

Profit/(loss) for the year 311,751 (3,676,136)

Other comprehensive income:

Foreign currency translation 360,092 41,206

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 360,092 41,206

Total comprehensive income for the year 671,843 (3,634,930)

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the parent 311,751 (3,676,136)

Earnings/(loss) per share Cents Cents

Basic and diluted 7 0.05 (0.72)

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
for the financial year ended 30 November 2010
(In United States dollars)
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Group Company
Note 2010 2009 2010 2009

$ $ $ $

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 8 1,104,482 1,616,019 92,551 14,541
Investment in subsidiaries 9 –   –   5,277,983 6,737,983
Deferred tax assets 16 1,713 95,002 –   –   

1,106,195 1,711,021 5,370,534 6,752,524

Current assets

Inventories 10 1,129,682 10,302,794 99,975 2,272,331
Trade receivables 11 40,178 1,018,975 –   237,438
Other receivables 12 668,789 913,828 56,451 61,896
Prepayments 23,629 50,820 22,867 50,820
Tax refundable 6,132 5,961 –   –   
Cash and short-term deposits 13 35,090,277 23,179,538 25,274,023 19,600,948

36,958,687 35,471,916 25,453,316 22,223,433

Current liabilities

Trade payables 14 11,536 291,592 2,236 12,849
Other payables 15 731,449 484,857 183,563 195,544
Tax payable 260,595 –   –   –   

1,003,580 776,449 185,799 208,393

Net current assets 35,955,107 34,695,467 25,267,517 22,015,040

Non-current liability

Deferred tax liabilities 16 57,051 74,080 –   –   

Net assets 37,004,251 36,332,408 30,638,051 28,767,564

Equity attributable to owners of the 
parent

Share capital 17 32,793,475 32,793,475 32,793,475 32,793,475
Reserves 4,210,776 3,538,933 (2,155,424) (4,025,911)

Total equity 37,004,251 36,332,408 30,638,051 28,767,564

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Balance Sheets 
as at 30 November 2010
(In United States dollars)
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Attributable to owners of the parent

Note
Share 
capital

Statutory
reserve *

Accumulated
profits/
(losses)

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve**

Total 
equity

$ $ $ $ $

Group
Balance at 1 December 2008 29,523,617 2,019,670 2,663,603 2,490,590 36,697,480

Loss for the financial year –   –   (3,676,136) –   (3,676,136)
Other comprehensive income –   –   –   41,206 41,206

Total comprehensive income 
for the year –   –   (3,676,136) 41,206 (3,634,930)

Issuance of new shares in 
connection with Rights Issue 17 3,406,454 –   –   –   3,406,454

New share issue expenses in 
connection with Rights Issue 17 (136,596) –   –   –   (136,596)

Balance at 30 November 2009 32,793,475 2,019,670 (1,012,533) 2,531,796 36,332,408

Balance at 1 December 2009 32,793,475 2,019,670 (1,012,533) 2,531,796 36,332,408

Profit for the financial year –   –   311,751 –   311,751
Other comprehensive income –   –   –   360,092 360,092

Total comprehensive income 
for the year –   –   311,751 360,092 671,843

Transfer to statutory income –   10,113 (10,113) –   –   

Balance at 30 November 2010 32,793,475 2,029,783 (710,895) 2,891,888 37,004,251

*	 The statutory reserve is computed based on 10% of the after tax profit of subsidiaries established in the People’s Republic of 
China.  It is made to comply with the local law and regulations.

**	 Foreign currency translation reserve records exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign 
operations whose functional currencies are different from that of the Group’s presentation currency.

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Statements of Changes in Equity 
for the financial year ended 30 November 2010
(In United States dollars)
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Note
Share
capital

Accumulated 
profits/(losses)

Total 
equity

$ $ $

Company
Balance at 1 December 2008 29,523,617 (2,605,792) 26,917,825

Loss for the financial year –   (1,420,119) (1,420,119)

Total comprehensive income for the year –   (1,420,119) (1,420,119)

Issuance of new shares in connection with Rights Issue 17 3,406,454 –   3,406,454

New share issue expenses in connection with Rights 
Issue 17 (136,596) –   (136,596)

Balance at 30 November 2009 32,793,475 (4,025,911) 28,767,564

Balance at 1 December 2009 32,793,475 (4,025,911) 28,767,564

Profit for the financial year –   1,870,487 1,870,487

Total comprehensive income for the year –   1,870,487 1,870,487

Balance at 30 November 2010 32,793,475 (2,155,424) 30,638,051

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Statements of Changes in Equity 
for the financial year ended 30 November 2010
(In United States dollars)
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Note 2010 2009
$ $

Cash flows from operating activities:

Profit/(loss) before tax 621,525 (3,542,575)
Adjustments for:
 	 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 8 604,759 804,711
 	 Property, plant and equipment written off 4 –   31,072
 	 Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 4 12,102 168,038
 	 Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment 4 250,282 309,872
 	 (Reversal of allowance)/allowance for doubtful debts 3, 4 (123,135) 164,073
 	 Interest income 3 (117,977) (46,860)
 	 Reversal of write-down of inventories, net 5, 10 (793,878) (2,675,401)
 	 Unrealised exchange gain (132,446) (6,004)
 	 Foreign currency translation 298,233 54,082

Operating cash flows before changes in working capital 619,465 (4,738,992)

Decrease in trade receivables 1,011,306 29,155
Decrease in other receivables and prepayments 456,596 2,483,974
Decrease in inventories 9,966,963 6,657,213
Decrease in trade payables (280,056) (1,052,876)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables 227,824 (1,600,786)

Cash flows from operations 12,002,098 1,777,688

Income taxes refund/(paid), net 26,911 (1,165)
Interest received 59,524 46,860

Net cash flows from operating activities 12,088,533 1,823,383

Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 8 (350,046) (588,272)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 60,800 1,042,288

Net cash flows (used in)/generated from investing activities (289,246) 454,016

Cash flows from financing activity:

Net proceeds from issuance of shares 17 –   3,269,858

Net cash flows generated from financing activity –   3,269,858

Net increase in cash and cash equivalent 11,799,287 5,547,257

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 111,452 3,002
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 23,179,538 17,629,279

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 13 35,090,277 23,179,538

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 
for the financial year ended 30 November 2010
(In United States dollars)
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1.	 Corporate information

Unionmet (Singapore) Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability company, incorporated in Singapore and is listed 
on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”).

The registered office and principal place of business of the Company is located at 8 Shenton Way #42-02, Singapore 
068811.

The principal activity of the Company is that of trading of non-ferrous metals.  There has been no significant change 
in the nature of this activity during the financial year.  The principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 
9 to the financial statements.

2.	 Summary of significant accounting policies

2.1	 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of the 
Company have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”).

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except as disclosed in the accounting policies 
below.

The financial statements are presented in United States Dollars (USD or $).  The Company’s reporting and measurement 
currency is the USD, which reflects the economic substance of the underlying events and circumstances of the 
Company.  Although the Company is domiciled in Singapore, most of the Company’s transactions and sales are 
denominated in USD.

2.2	 Changes in accounting policies

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except as follows:

On 1 December 2009, the Group adopted the following standards and interpretations mandatory for annual financial 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009. 

• FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (Revised)
• Amendments to FRS 18 Revenue
• Amendments to FRS 23 Borrowing Costs
• Amendments to FRS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 

– Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation
• Amendments to FRS 101 First-time Adoption of Financial Reporting Standards and FRS 27 Consolidated and 

Separate Financial Statements – Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate
• Amendments to FRS 102 Share-based Payment – Vesting Conditions and Cancellations
• Amendments to FRS 107 Financial Instruments: Disclosures 
• FRS 108 Operating Segments
• Improvements to FRSs issued in 2008
• INT FRS 116 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation
• Amendments to INT FRS 109 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives and FRS 39 Financial Instruments: 

Recognition and Measurement – Embedded Derivatives
• INT FRS 118 Transfers of Assets from Customers
• Amendments to FRS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
• Amendments to FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement – Eligible Hedged Item
• Revised FRS 103 Business Combinations
• Amendments to FRS 105 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations
• INT FRS 117 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners

Notes to the Financial Statements
30 November 2010
(In United States dollars)
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2.2	 Changes in accounting policies (cont’d)

• Improvements to FRSs issued in 2009: 
–	 Amendments to FRS 38 Intangible Assets
–	 Amendments to FRS 102 Share-based Payment
–	 Amendments to FRS 108 Operating Segments
–	 Amendments to INT FRS 109 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives
–	 Amendments to INT FRS 116 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation

Adoption of these standards and interpretations did not have any effect on the financial performance or position of 
the Group except for FRS 1, FRS 107 and FRS 108 as indicated below.

The principal effects of these changes are as follows:

FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – Revised Presentation

The revised FRS 1 separates owner and non-owner changes in equity. The statement of changes in equity includes 
only details of transactions with owners, with all non-owner changes in equity presented in the statement of other 
comprehensive income. In addition, the Standard introduces the statement of comprehensive income which 
presents income and expense recognised in the period. This statement may be presented in one single statement, 
or two linked statements. The Group has elected to present this statement as one single statement.

Amendments to FRS 107 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

The amendments to FRS 107 require additional disclosure about fair value measurement and liquidity risk. Fair 
value measurements are to be disclosed by source of inputs using a three level hierarchy for each class of financial 
instrument. In addition, reconciliation between the beginning and ending balance for Level 3 fair value measurements 
is now required, as well as significant transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements. The 
amendments also clarify the requirements for liquidity risk disclosures.  The fair value measurement disclosures and 
liquidity risk disclosure are presented in Note 21 and Note 23 to the financial statements.

FRS 108 Operating Segments

FRS 108 requires disclosure of information about the Group’s operating segments and replaces the requirement 
to determine primary and secondary reporting segments of the Group. The Group determined that the reportable 
operating segments are the same as the business segments previously identified under FRS 14 Segment 
Reporting.  Additional disclosures about each of the segments are shown in Note 24, including revised comparative 
information.

FRS 103 Business Combinations (revised) and FRS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

The revised FRS 103 Business Combinations and FRS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements are 
applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009.  As of 1 December 2009, the Group adopted both 
revised standards at the same time in accordance with their transitional provisions. 

Notes to the Financial Statements
30 November 2010
(In United States dollars)



UNIONMET (SINGAPORE) LIMITED
annual report 2010

40

Notes to the Financial Statements
30 November 2010
(In United States dollars)

2.2	 Changes in accounting policies (cont’d)

FRS 103 Business Combinations (revised)

The revised FRS 103 introduces a number of changes to the accounting for business combinations that will impact 
the amount of goodwill recognised, the reported results in the period that an acquisition occurs, and future reported 
results. Changes in significant accounting policies resulting from the adoption of the revised FRS 103 include:

–	 Transaction costs would no longer be capitalised as part of the cost of acquisition but will be expensed 
immediately;

–	 Consideration contingent on future events are recognised at fair value on the acquisition date and any changes 
in the amount of consideration to be paid will no longer be adjusted against goodwill but recognised in profit 
or loss;

–	 The Group elects for each acquisition of a business, to measure non-controlling interest at fair value, or at the 
non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets, and this impacts the 
amount of goodwill recognised; and

–	 When a business is acquired in stages, the previously held equity interests in the acquiree is remeasured to fair 
value at the acquisition date with any corresponding gain or loss recognised in profit or loss, and this impacts 
the amount of goodwill recognised.

According to its transitional provisions, the revised FRS 103 has been applied prospectively. Assets and liabilities 
that arose from business combinations whose acquisition dates are before 1 July 2009 are not adjusted.

FRS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (revised)

Changes in significant accounting policies resulting from the adoption of the revised FRS 27 include:

–	 A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary that does not result in a loss of control is accounted for as 
an equity transaction. Therefore, such a change will have no impact on goodwill, nor will it give rise to a gain 
or loss recognised in profit or loss;

–	 Losses incurred by a subsidiary are allocated to the non-controlling interest even if the losses exceed the non-
controlling interest in the subsidiary’s equity; and

–	 When control over a subsidiary is lost, any interest retained is measured at fair value with the corresponding 
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss.

According to its transitional provisions, the revised FRS 27 has been applied prospectively, and does not impact the 
Group’s consolidated financial statements in respect of transactions with non-controlling interests, attribution of 
losses to non-controlling interests and disposal of subsidiaries before 1 July 2009.  The changes will affect future 
transactions with non-controlling interests.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
30 November 2010
(In United States dollars)

2.2	 Changes in accounting policies (cont’d)

Improvements to FRSs issued in 2008

In 2008, the Accounting Standards Council issued an omnibus of amendments to FRS.  There are separate transitional 
provisions for each amendment. The adoption of the following amendments resulted in changes to accounting 
policies but did not have any impact on the financial position or performance of the Group:

•	 FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Assets and liabilities classified as held for trading in accordance 
with FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are not automatically classified as current 
in the statement of financial position. The Group amended its accounting policy accordingly and analysed 
whether Management’s expectation of the period of realisation of financial assets and liabilities differed from 
the classification of the instrument. This did not result in any re-classification of financial instruments between 
current and non-current in the statement of financial position.

•	 FRS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Replaces the term “net selling price” with “fair value less costs to 
sell”.  The Group amended its accounting policy accordingly, which did not result in any change in the financial 
position.

•	 FRS 23 Borrowing Costs: The definition of borrowing costs is revised to consolidate the two types of items 
that are considered components of “borrowing costs” into one – the interest expense calculated using the 
effective interest rate method calculated in accordance with FRS 39. The Group has amended its accounting 
policy accordingly which did not result in any change in its financial position.

2.3	 Standards issued but not yet effective

The Group has not adopted the following standards and interpretations that have been issued but not yet effective:

Description

Effective for annual 
periods beginning on 

or after

Improvements to FRSs issued in 2009: 
–	 Amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 1 January 2010
–	 Amendments to FRS 7 Statement of Cash Flows 1 January 2010
–	 Amendments to FRS 17 Leases 1 January 2010
–	 Amendments to FRS 36 Impairment of Assets 1 January 2010
–	 FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement 1 January 2010
–	 Amendments to FRS 105 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued 

Operations
1 January 2010

–	 Amendments to FRS 108 Operating Segments 1 January 2010
Amendments to FRS 102 Share-based Payment – Group Cash-settled Share-based 

Payment Transactions
1 January 2010

Amendments to FRS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation – Classification of Rights 
Issues

1 February 2010

INT FRS 119 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments 1 July 2010
Revised FRS 24 Related Party Disclosures 1 January 2011
INT FRS 114 FRS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding 

Requirements and their Interaction – Amendments relating to Prepayments of a 
Minimum Funding Requirement

1 January 2011

INT FRS 115 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate 1 January 2011
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2.3	 Standards issued but not yet effective (cont’d)

Description

Effective for annual 
periods beginning on 

or after

Improvements to FRSs issued in 2010: 
–	 Amendments to FRS 101 First-time Adoption of Financial Reporting Standards 1 January 2011
–	 Amendments to FRS 103 Business Combinations 1 July 2010
–	 Amendments to FRS 107 Financial Instruments: Disclosures 1 January 2011
–	 Amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 1 January 2011
–	 Transition requirements for amendments arising as a result of FRS 27 Consolidated 

and Separate Financial Statements
1 July 2010

–	 Amendments to FRS 34 Interim Financial Reporting 1 January 2011
–	 Amendments to INT FRS 113 Customer Loyalty Programmes 1 January 2011

Except for the revised FRS 24, the directors expect that the adoption of the other standards and interpretations 
above will have no material impact on the financial statements in the period of initial application. The nature of the 
impending changes in accounting policy on adoption of the revised FRS 24 is described below.

Revised FRS 24 Related Party Disclosures

The revised FRS 24 clarifies the definition of a related party to simplify the identification of such relationships and to 
eliminate inconsistencies in its application.  The revised FRS 24 expands the definition of a related party and would 
treat two entities as related to each other whenever a person (or a close member of that person’s family) or a third 
party has control or joint control over the entity, or has significant influence over the entity.  The revised standard also 
introduces a partial exemption of disclosure requirements for government-related entities.  The Group is currently 
determining the impact of the changes to the definition of a related party has on the disclosure of related party 
transaction.  As this is a disclosure standard, it will have no impact on the financial position or financial performance 
of the Group when implemented in 2011.

2.4	 Significant accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates, assumptions concerning the future and judgements are made in the preparation of the financial statements. 
They affect the application of the Group’s accounting policies, reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses, and disclosures made. They are assessed on an on-going basis and are based on experience and relevant 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

(a)	 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

	 The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance 
sheet date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

(i)	 Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

	 The cost of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated 
economic useful lives. Management estimates the useful lives of these property, plant and equipment 
to be within 3 to 20 years. The carrying amount of the Group’s property, plant and equipment as at 
30 November 2010 was $1,104,482 (2009: $1,616,019). Changes in the expected level of usage, 
technological developments could impact the economic useful lives and the residual values of these 
assets, therefore future depreciation charges could be revised and impact the profit in future years.
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2.4	 Significant accounting estimates and judgements (cont’d)

(a)	 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

	 (ii)	 Income taxes

The Group has exposure to income taxes in various jurisdictions.  Significant judgement is involved in 
determining the Group-wide provision for income taxes. There are certain transactions and computations 
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group 
recognises liabilities for expected tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be 
due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially 
recognised, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in 
which such determination is made. The carrying amount of the Group’s tax payables and deferred tax 
liabilities at 30 November 2010 was $260,595 (2009: $Nil) and $57,051 (2009: $74,080) respectively.

(b)	 Judgements made in applying accounting policies

	 In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, 
apart from those involving estimations, which has the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in 
the financial statements.

(i)	 Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets at each 
reporting date. Goodwill and other indefinite life intangibles are tested for impairment annually and at 
other times when such indicators exist. Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment when there 
are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.

When value-in-use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the expected future cash 
flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the 
present value of those cash flows. 

(ii)	 Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for its property, plant and equipment 
at each reporting date.  They are tested for impairment annually and at other times when such indicators 
exist. Changes in the expected usage due to developments in the PRC could impact the economic useful 
lives of these assets. Therefore impairments in property, plant and equipment could be charged and 
impact the profits of the Group.

2.5	 Basis of consolidation

Business combinations from 1 December 2009

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as at the 
end of the reporting period. The financial statements of the subsidiaries used in the preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements are prepared for the same reporting date as the Company. Consistent accounting policies are 
applied to like transactions and events in similar circumstances.

All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions 
are eliminated in full.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, and 
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
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2.5	 Basis of consolidation (cont’d)

Business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method. Identifiable assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. 
Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in which the costs are incurred and the services 
are received.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate 
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent 
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the 
acquiree.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. 
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to be an asset or liability, will 
be recognised in accordance with FRS 39 either in profit or loss or as change to other comprehensive income. If the 
contingent consideration is classified as equity, it is not be remeasured until it is finally settled within equity.

In business combinations achieved in stages, previously held equity interests in the acquiree are remeasured to fair 
value at the acquisition date and any corresponding gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group elects for each individual business combination, whether non-controlling interest in the acquiree (if any) 
is recognised on the acquisition date at fair value, or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the 
acquiree identifiable net assets.

Any excess of the sum of the fair value of the consideration transferred in the business combination, the amount 
of non-controlling interest in the acquiree (if any), and the fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interest in 
the acquiree (if any), over the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. 
The accounting policy for goodwill is set out in Note 2.9. In instances where the latter amount exceeds the former, 
the excess is recognised as gain on bargain purchase in profit or loss on the acquisition date.

Business combinations before 1 December 2009

In comparison to the above mentioned requirements, the following differences applied:

Business combinations are accounted for by applying the purchase method. Transaction costs directly attributable 
to the acquisition formed part of the acquisition costs. The non-controlling interest (formerly known as minority 
interest) was measured at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Business combinations achieved in stages were accounted for as separate steps. Adjustments to those fair values 
relating to previously held interests are treated as a revaluation and recognised in equity.

When the Group acquired a business, embedded derivatives separated from the host contract by the acquiree are 
not reassessed on acquisition unless the business combination results in a change in the terms of the contract that 
significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required under the contract.

Contingent consideration was recognised if, and only if, the Group had a present obligation, the economic outflow 
was more likely than not and a reliable estimate was determinable. Subsequent measurements to the contingent 
consideration affected goodwill.
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2.6	 Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies so as to 
obtain benefits from its activities.

In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment 
losses.

2.7	 Functional and foreign currency

(a)	 Functional currency

	 The management has determined the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Company 
operates i.e. functional currency, to be USD, as most of the Company’s transactions and sales are denominated 
in USD.

(b)	 Foreign currency transactions

	 Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional currencies of the Company and its 
subsidiaries and are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currencies at exchange rates approximating 
those ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.  Non-monetary items that are measured 
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the 
initial transactions.  Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. 

	 Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at the 
balance sheet date are recognised in profit or loss except for exchange differences arising on monetary items 
that form part of the Group’s net investment in foreign operations, which are recognised initially in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated under foreign currency translation reserve in equity. The foreign 
currency translation reserve is reclassified from equity to profit or loss of the Group on disposal of the foreign 
operation.

	 (c)	 Foreign currency translation

	 The results and financial position of foreign operations are translated into USD using the following 
procedures:

•	 Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the rate ruling at that balance 
sheet date; and

•	 Income and expenses for each statement of comprehensive income are translated at weighted average 
exchange rates for the year, which approximates the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

	 All resulting exchange differences are recognised in a separate component of equity as foreign currency 
translation reserve.
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2.8	 Property, plant and equipment

All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. The cost of an item of property, plant and 
equipment is recognised as an asset if, and only if, it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the 
item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  

Subsequent to recognition, property, plant and equipment are measured at cost or valuation less accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

When significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced in intervals, the Group recognises 
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciation, respectively. Likewise, when a major 
inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the plant and equipment as a replacement 
if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognised in profit or loss as 
incurred. Freehold land and buildings are measured at fair value less accumulated depreciation on buildings and 
impairment losses recognised after the date of the revaluation. Valuations are performed with sufficient regularity 
to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially from the fair value of the freehold land and buildings at 
the end of the reporting period.

Any revaluation surplus is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the asset 
revaluation reserve, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously 
recognised in profit or loss, in which case the increase is recognised in profit or loss. A revaluation deficit is 
recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it offsets an existing surplus on the same asset carried in the 
asset revaluation reserve.

Any accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset 
and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset.  The revaluation surplus included in the asset 
revaluation reserve in respect of an asset is transferred directly to retained earnings on retirement or disposal of the 
asset.

Depreciation of an asset begins when it is available for use and is computed on a straight-line basis over their 
estimated useful life of the asset as follows:

Leasehold land and building – 20 years
Leasehold improvement	 –   5 years
Plant and machinery –   10 years
Office equipment –   5 years
Motor vehicles –   5 years
Computers –   3 years

Fully depreciated property, plant and equipment are retained in the financial statements until they are no longer in 
use and no further charge for depreciation is made in respect of these assets.

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. 

The residual values, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-end to ensure that the 
amount, method and period of depreciation are consistent with previous estimates and the expected pattern of 
consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the items of property, plant and equipment.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset is included in the profit or 
loss in the year the asset is derecognised.
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2.9	 Goodwill

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the cost. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured 
at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, 
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the 
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquire are assigned to those units.

The cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually and whenever there 
is an indication that the cash-generating unit may be impaired. Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing 
the recoverable amount of each cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which the goodwill 
relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount, an impairment 
loss is recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised for goodwill are not reversed in subsequent 
periods.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation 
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying 
amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in 
this circumstance is measured based on the relative fair values of the operations disposed of and the portion of the 
cash-generating unit retained.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of foreign operations on or after 1 January 2005 are 
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operations and are recorded in the functional currency of the foreign 
operations and translated in accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2.7.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments which arose on acquisition of foreign subsidiaries before 1 January 2005 are 
deemed to be assets and liabilities of the Company and are recorded in USD at the rates prevailing at the date of 
acquisition.

2.10	 Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such 
indication exists, or when annual impairment assessment for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of 
the asset’s recoverable amount.

An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs to sell and 
its value-in-use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are 
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. In assessing value-in-use, the estimated future 
cash flows are expected to be generated by the asset are discounted to their present value. Where the carrying 
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is written down to its recoverable amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss except for assets that are previously revalued where the revaluation 
was taken to other comprehensive income. In this case the impairment is also recognised in other comprehensive 
income up to the amount of any previous revaluation.

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised 
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed 
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last 
impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable 
amount. That increase cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, 
had no impairment loss be recognised previously such as reversal is recognised in profit or loss unless the asset is 
measured at revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.
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2.11	 Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are classified and accounted for as loans and receivables under FRS 39. The accounting 
policy for this category of financial assets is stated in Note 2.22.  Trade receivables generally have 3 to 120 days 
credit terms and are recognised and carried at original invoiced amount less an allowance for any uncollectible 
amounts.

An allowance is made for uncollectible amounts when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to 
collect the debt. Bad debts are written off when identified. Further details on the accounting policy for impairment 
of financial assets are stated in Note 2.16 below.

2.12	 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition are accounted for as follows:

Raw materials – purchase costs on a weighted average basis;
Finished goods and work-in-progress – costs of direct materials and labour and a proportion of manufacturing 

overheads based on normal operating capacity.  These costs are 
assigned on weighted average basis.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of 
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

2.13	 Trade and other payables

Liabilities for trade and other payables, which are normally settled on 30 - 60 day terms and payables to subsidiaries 
and related parties, are accounted for as financial liabilities. The accounting policy for this category is stated in Note 
2.23.

2.14	 Employee benefits

(a)	 Defined contribution plans

	 The Group participates in the national pension schemes as defined by the laws of the countries in which it has 
operations. In particular, the Company make contributions to the Central Provident Fund scheme in Singapore, 
a defined contribution pension scheme. Contributions to defined contribution pension schemes are recognised 
as an expense in the period in which the related service is performed.

(b)	 Employee leave entitlement

	 Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised as a liability when they accrue to employees. The 
estimated liability for leave is recognised for services rendered by employees up to balance sheet date.

2.15	 Operating leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement 
at inception date: whether fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets or the 
arrangement conveys a right to use the asset. For arrangements entered into prior to 1 January 2005, the date of 
inception is deemed to be 1 January 2005 in accordance with the transitional requirements of INT FRS 104.
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2.15	 Operating leases (cont’d)

Leases where the lessor effectively retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the leased item 
are classified as operating leases.  As a lessee, operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the profit 
or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The aggregate benefit of incentives provided by the lessor is recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the 
lease term on a straight-line basis.

2.16	 Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a 
group of financial assets is impaired.

(a)	 Assets carried at amortised cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at amortised cost has been 
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.  
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account.  The amount of the loss 
is recognised in profit or loss.

When the asset becomes uncollectible, the carrying amount of impaired financial assets is reduced directly 
or if an amount was charged to the allowance account, the amounts charged to the allowance account are 
written off against the carrying value of the financial asset. 

To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets has been 
incurred, the Group considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of 
the debtor and default or significant delay in payments.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment 
loss is reversed.  The amount of reversal is recognised in profit or loss to the extent that the carrying value of 
the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date.

(b)	 Assets carried at cost

	 If there is objective evidence such as significant adverse changes in the business environment where the 
issuer operates, probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the issuer that an impairment loss 
on a financial assets carried at cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at 
the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment losses are not reversed in 
subsequent periods.

2.17	 Revenue

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the 
revenue can be reliably measured.  Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable.

(a)	 Sale of goods

	 Revenue from sale of goods is recognised upon the transfer of significant risk and rewards of ownership of 
the goods to the customer.  Revenue is not recognised to the extent where there are significant uncertainties 
regarding recovery of the consideration due, associated costs or the possible return of goods.
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2.17	 Revenue (cont’d)

(b)	 Rendering of services

	 Management service fee is recognised, on an accrual basis upon which management services are rendered.

(c)	 Interest income

	 Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

(d)	 Dividend income

	 Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s right to receive payment is established.

2.18	 Research and development expenses

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred.

2.19	 Loans and borrowings

All loans and borrowings are accounted for as financial liabilities.  The accounting policy for this category is stated 
in Note 2.23.

Borrowing costs are expensed as incurred.

2.20	 Income taxes

(a)	 Current tax

	 Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be 
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are 
those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

	 Current income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that the tax relates to items 
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

(b)	 Deferred tax

	 Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the balance sheet date 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences, except:

–	 Where the deferred  tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in 
a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

–	 In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates 
and interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be 
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.20 	Income taxes (cont’d)

(b)	 Deferred tax (cont’d)

	 Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits 
and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the 
deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be 
utilised except:

–	 Where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of 
the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

–	 In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates 
and interests in joint ventures, deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is 
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be 
available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

	 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to 
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the 
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each the end of each 
reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will 
allow the deferred tax asset to be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when 
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss. Deferred 
tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income 
or directly in equity and deferred tax arising from a business combination is adjusted against goodwill on 
acquisition.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current 
income tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes relate to the same 
taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

	 (c)	 Sales tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax except:

•	 Where the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation 
authority, in which case the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as 
part of the expense item as applicable; and

•	 Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included.

	 The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of 
receivables or payables in the balance sheet.
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2.21	 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, 
it is probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount of the 
obligation can be estimated reliably. 

Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is no longer 
probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, the provision is reversed. If 
the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre tax rate that reflects, 
where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to 
the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

2.22	 Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised on the balance sheet when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the financial instrument.

When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of financial assets not 
at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. 

A financial asset is derecognised where the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired. On 
derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum of the 
consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that has been recognised directly in equity is recognised in 
profit or loss. 

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised or derecognised on the trade date i.e. the 
date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales 
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention 
in the marketplace concerned.

The Group determines the classification of its financial assets after initial recognition and, where allowed and 
appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at each financial year-end.

(a)	 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

	 Financial assets held for trading are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Financial 
assets held for trading are derivatives (including separated embedded derivatives) or financial assets acquired 
principally for the purpose of selling in the near term.

	 Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value. 
Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of the financial assets are recognised in profit or loss. Net 
gains or net losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include exchange differences, interest 
and dividend income.

(b)	 Loans and receivables

	 Financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are classified 
as loans and receivables. Subsequent to initial recognition, loan and receivable are carried at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, less impairment losses.  Gains and losses are recognised in statement 
of comprehensive income when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, and through the 
amortisation process.

	 The Group classifies the following financial assets as loans and receivables:

	 •	 cash and short-term deposits;

	 •	 trade and other receivables.
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2.23	 Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities within the scope of FRS 39 are recognised on the balance sheet when, and only when, the Group 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.

Financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, plus, in the case of financial liabilities other than derivatives, 
directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value. Other financial liabilities (except for financial 
guarantee) are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

For financial liabilities other than derivatives, gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities 
are derecognised, and through the amortisation process. Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of 
derivatives are recognised in profit or loss. Net gains or losses on derivatives include exchange differences.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is extinguished. When an existing financial 
liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing 
liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original 
liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in 
the profit or loss.

2.24	 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand and short-term deposits that form an integral part of 
the Group’s cash management. 

Cash and short-term deposits carried in the balance sheets are classified and accounted for as loans and receivables 
under FRS 39. The accounting policy for this category of financial assets is stated in Note 2.22.

2.25	 Segment reporting

For management purposes, the Group is organised into operating segments based on their products and services 
which are independently managed by the respective segment managers responsible for the performance of the 
respective segments under their charge. The segment managers report directly to the management of the Company 
who regularly review the segment results in order to allocate resources to the segments and to assess the segment 
performance. Additional disclosures on each of these segments are shown in Note 24, including the factors used to 
identify the reportable segments and the measurement basis of segment information.

2.26	 Share capital and share issue expenses

Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares are recognised as share capital in equity. Incremental costs directly 
attributable to the issuance of ordinary shares are deducted against share capital. 
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3.	 Other income

Group
2010 2009

$ $

Interest income from bank deposits 117,977 46,860
Exchange gain, net 173,061 129,289
Subsidy income 53,171 –   
Sundry income 48,232 –   
Others 12,508 57,743

404,949 233,892

4.	 Other expenses

Group
2010 2009

$ $

Property, plant and equipment written off –   31,072
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 12,102 168,038
Net realised loss on derivative financial instruments 9,795 791,590
Impairment in value of property, plant and equipment 250,282 309,872
Loss on sale of raw materials 20,105 –   
Others 20,456 18,097

312,740 1,318,669

5.	 Profit/(loss) before tax

Group
Note 2010 2009

$ $

Profit/(loss) before tax is stated after charging/(crediting):

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 8 604,759 804,711
(Reversal of allowance)/allowance for doubtful debts (123,135) 164,073 
Research and development expenses 433,173 342,968
Rental expenses 308,076 263,558
Machinery rental expenses 67,124 267,251
Reversal of inventories write-down, net (793,878) (2,675,401)
Staff costs 19 1,115,999 1,147,135
Non-audit fees paid to:
- Auditors of the Company 6,209 44,209
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6.	 Income tax

(a)	 Major components of income tax expense

The major components of income tax expense for the financial year ended 30 November were:

Group
2010 2009

$ $

Statement of comprehensive income

Current income tax
- current income taxation 270,995 –   
- over provision of tax in respect of prior years (38,460) (9,970)
Deferred income tax
- movement in temporary differences 32,003 131,716

264,538 121,746
Withholding tax 45,236  11,815

309,774 133,561

(b)	 Relationship between tax expense and accounting profit

A reconciliation between the tax expense and the product of accounting profit/(loss) multiplied by the applicable tax 
rate for the year ended 30 November is as follows:

Group
Note 2010 2009

$ $

Profit/(loss) before tax 621,525 (3,542,575)

Tax at the domestic rates applicable to profits in the countries where 
the Group operates * 209,400 (779,076)

Adjustments:
 Income not subject to tax (62,875) –   
 Effect of concessionary tax rate of certain subsidiaries 6(b)(ii) –   120,132
 Effect of deferred withholding tax liability for undistributed reserves 45,236 11,815
 Deferred tax asset not recognised 163,414 765,895
 Non-deductible expenses 106,628 80,693
 Change in tax rate –   (49,508)
 Over provision of prior year tax (38,460) (9,970)
 Benefits from previously unrecognised tax losses (113,569) –   
 Others –   (6,420)

Tax expense 309,774 133,561

	 *	 The reconciliation is prepared by aggregating separate reconciliations for each national jurisdiction.
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6.	 Income tax (cont’d)

(b)	 Relationship between tax expense and accounting profit (cont’d)

i)	 As at 30 November 2010, the Group has unabsorbed tax losses of approximately $9,950,000 (2009: $9,900,000) 
available for offset against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose, for which no 
deferred tax asset is recognised due to uncertainty of its recoverability.

	 The use of these tax losses is subject to the agreement of the tax authorities and compliance with certain 
provisions of the tax legislation of the respective countries in which the companies operate.

ii)	 The subsidiary, Guangxi Intai Technology Co., Ltd. (“Intai”), is located in Liuzhou City of Guangxi Province 
and is subject to a corporate income tax rate of 25% (2009: 25%). Intai obtained approval from local tax 
bureau and was entitled to enjoy two years tax exemption and subsequent three years with 50% reduction as 
foreign investment enterprise beginning April 2005.  For December 2009, Intai was subjected to a favourable 
corporate income tax rate of 12.5%.  From 1 January 2010 onward, Intai is subject to the tax rate of 25%.

	 The subsidiary, Liuzhou Union Zinc Industry Co., Ltd. (“Union Zinc”), is located in Liuzhou City of Guangxi 
Province and is subject to a corporate income tax rate of 25% (2009: 25%). According to the income tax law 
of the PRC on foreign investment enterprises, Union Zinc is entitled to tax exemption from PRC corporate 
income tax for two years commencing from its first profit making year, after deducting the tax losses brought 
forward, and thereafter is entitled to a 50% tax exemption for the subsequent three years.  As Union Zinc 
was established in September 2004, Union Zinc chose year 2005 as its first profit-making year.  For December 
2009, Union Zinc was subjected to a favourable corporate income tax rate of 12.5%.  From 1 January 2010 
onward, Union Zinc is subject to the tax rate of 25%.

7.	 Earnings/(loss) per share

(a)	 Basic earnings/(loss) per share

Basic earnings/(loss) per share amounts are calculated by dividing profit/(loss) for the year that is attributable to 
ordinary equity holders of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 
year.

Group
2010 2009

$ $

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent 311,751 (3,676,136)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 613,553,995 511,294,996

Basic earnings/(loss) per share (cents) 0.05 (0.72)

(b)	 Diluted earnings/(loss) per share

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share amounts are calculated by dividing profit/(loss) for the year that is attributable to 
ordinary equity holders of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 
year plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on the conversion of all the dilutive 
potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.
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7.	 Earnings/(loss) per share (cont’d)

(b)	 Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (cont’d)

Group
2010 2009

$ $

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent 311,751 (3,676,136)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 613,553,995 511,294,996

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (cents) 0.05 (0.72)

8.	 Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold 
land and 
building

Leasehold 
improvement

Plant and 
machinery

Office 
equipment

Motor 
vehicles Computers Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

Group
Cost:
At 1 December 2008 689,244 830,532 2,443,905 126,312 423,869 22,130 4,535,992
Additions –   985 582,423 3,794 –   1,070 588,272
Disposals (725,612) –   (894,260) (21,706) (9,601) –   (1,651,179)
Translation adjustment 42,288 2,106 12,687 (4,304) 1,322 –   54,099

At 30 November 2009 and  
1 December 2009 5,920 833,623 2,144,755 104,096 415,590 23,200 3,527,184

Additions(1) –   101,490 264,087 2,976 –   1,982 370,535
Disposals (6,089) (33,280) (514,123) (1,750) (6,806) (943) (562,991)
Translation adjustment 169 22,360 60,617 2,704 11,892 –   97,742

At 30 November 2010 –   924,193 1,955,336 108,026 420,676 24,239 3,432,470

Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment loss:

At 1 December 2008 149,956 10,402 680,207 58,642 224,481 18,702 1,142,390
Charge for the financial year 24,742 449,847 231,181 19,228 77,509 2,204 804,711
Disposals (181,845) –   (155,001) (17,059) (5,806) –   (359,711)
Impairment loss –   –   309,872 –   –   –   309,872
Translation adjustment 8,799 –   5,456 (1,116) 764 –   13,903

At 30 November 2009 and  
1 December 2009 1,652 460,249 1,071,715 59,695 296,948 20,906 1,911,165

Charge for the financial year  265  367,215  164,239  17,370  54,006  1,664 604,759
Disposals  (1,965) (33,280) (445,701) (1,750)  (6,466)  (943) (490,105)
Impairment loss –   –   250,282 –   –   –   250,282
Translation adjustment 48 11,979 29,882 1,481 8,497 –   51,887

At 30 November 2010 –   806,163 1,070,417 76,796 352,985 21,627 2,327,988

Net book value:
At 30 November 2010 –    118,030 884,919  31,230  67,691  2,612 1,104,482

At 30 November 2009 4,268 373,374 1,073,040 44,401 118,642 2,294 1,616,019

(1) 	 Additions during the year include provision for reinstatement costs of $20,489 (2009: $Nil).

During the year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment with an aggregated cost of $370,535 (2009: 
$588,272) of which $20,489 (2009: $Nil) were additions to reinstatement cost capitalised. Cash payments of 
$350,046 (2009: $588,272) were made to acquire the property, plant and equipment.
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8.	 Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

Leasehold 
improvement

Office 
equipment Computers Total

$ $ $ $

Company
Cost:
At 1 December 2008 52,220 7,886 22,130 82,236
Additions –   –   1,070 1,070

At 30 November 2009 and  
1 December 2009 52,220 7,886 23,200 83,306

Additions  99,742  127 1,982 101,851
Written off (33,280) –   (943) (34,223)

At 30 November 2010 118,682 8,013 24,239 150,934

Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 December 2008 10,402 4,721 18,702 33,825
Charge for the financial year 31,239 1,497 2,204 34,940

At 30 November 2009 and 
	 1 December 2009 41,641 6,218 20,906 68,765
Charge for the financial year 21,132 1,045 1,664 23,841
Written off (33,280) –   (943) (34,223)

At 30 November 2010 29,493 7,263 21,627 58,383

Net book value:
At 30 November 2010 89,189 750 2,612 92,551

At 30 November 2009 10,579 1,668 2,294 14,541
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9.	 Investments in subsidiaries 

Investments in subsidiaries comprise:

Company
2010 2009

$ $

Unquoted equity shares, at cost 10,737,983 10,737,983
Less: Impairment loss (5,460,000) (4,000,000)

5,277,983 6,737,983

In 2008, the Company impaired the cost of investment of Liuzhou Union Zinc Industry Co., Ltd. (“Union Zinc”) 
by $4,000,000 and in 2010; the Company impaired the cost of investment of Guangxi Crystal Union Photoelectric 
Materials Co., Ltd (“GCU”) by $1,460,000.

The impairment review was done comparing the recoverable amount, determined based on value-in-use calculations, 
with the carrying value of Union Zinc:

Basis used
Terminal 

growth rate Discount rate
No of years
cash flow

Value-in-use 2% 19.59% 5

The value-in-use is determined using the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from the 
cash generating units discounted by weighted average cost of capital for Union Zinc as disclosed provided above.  
The calculation used a five-year cash flow projection approved by management.  Assumptions used in the five-year 
projections are based on industry forecasts.  The terminal value is determined on a going concern basis, assuming 
a terminal growth rate of 2%. Based on the value-in-use and the carrying value of the investment in Union Zinc, an 
impairment of US$4,000,000 was made.

The impairment review was done comparing the recoverable amount, determined based on value-in-use calculations, 
with the carrying value of GCU:

Basis used Growth rate Discount rate
No of years
cash flow

Value-in-use 3.1% 19.59% 5

The value-in-use is determined using the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from the 
cash generating units discounted by weighted average cost of capital for GCU as disclosed above.  The calculation 
used a five-year cash flow projection approved by management.  Assumptions used in the five-year projections are 
based on industry forecasts.  The value-in-use is determined by assuming a growth rate of 3.1%.  Based on the 
value-in-use and the carrying value of the investment in GCU, an impairment of US$1,460,000 was made.
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9.	 Investments in subsidiaries (cont’d)

Details of the subsidiaries are as follow:

Name of subsidiaries 
(Country of 

incorporation)
Principal activities
(Place of business) Cost

Percentage of 
equity held by 

the Group
2010 2009 2010 2009

$ $ % %

Held by the Company
* Liuzhou Union Zinc 

Industry Co., Ltd.
(The People’s Republic of 
China)

Smelting and selling non-
ferrous metals and related 
by-products
(The People’s Republic of 
China)

4,200,000 4,200,000 100 100

* Guangxi Intai Technology 
Co., Ltd.
(The People’s Republic of 
China)

Smelting and selling non-
ferrous metals and related 
by-products
(The People’s Republic of 
China)

4,237,983 4,237,983 100 100

* Guangxi Crystal Union 
Photoelectric Materials 
Co., Ltd.
(The People’s Republic of 
China)

Manufacturing and selling of 
photoelectric materials
(The People’s Republic of 
China)

2,300,000 2,300,000 100 100

10,737,983 10,737,983

Name of subsidiary
(Country of incorporation)

Principal activities
(Place of business)

Percentage of equity 
held by the Group

2010 2009
% %

Held through Liuzhou Union Zinc Industry Co., Ltd.
# Rongan Union Zinc Industry Co., Ltd.

(The People’s Republic of China)
Smelting and sales of non-ferrous metals 
and related by-products
(The People’s Republic of China)

100 100

*	 Audited by Ernst & Young, Guangzhou.
#	 No audit is required.
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10.	 Inventories

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009

$ $ $ $

Balance sheet:
Raw materials 53,062 1,820,488 –   –   
Low value consumables 38,467 96,179 –   –   
Work-in-progress 315,971 972,761 –   –   
Finished goods 722,182 7,413,366 99,975 2,272,331

Total inventories at lower of cost and 
net realisable value 1,129,682 10,302,794 99,975 2,272,331

Statement of comprehensive 
income:

Inventories recognised as an expense 
in cost of sales 25,107,998 10,013,468 8,104,520 2,783,884

Reversal of write-down of inventories, 
net (793,878) (2,675,401) (844,738) (770,047)

The reversal of write-down of inventories was made as the estimated net realisable values of the related inventories 
are above their carrying amounts.

11.	 Trade receivables

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 3 to 120 days’ terms. They are recognised at their 
original invoice amounts which represent their fair values on initial recognition. 

	 Receivables that are past due but not impaired

The Group has trade receivables amounting to $Nil (2009: $358,386) that are past due at the balance sheet date 
but not impaired. These receivables are unsecured and the analysis of their aging at the balance sheet date is as 
follows: 

Group
2010 2009

$ $

Trade receivables past due:
 	 Less than 30 days –   273,798
 	 31 to 60 days –   84,588

–   358,386



UNIONMET (SINGAPORE) LIMITED
annual report 2010

62

Notes to the Financial Statements
30 November 2010
(In United States dollars)

12.	 Other receivables

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009

$ $ $ $

Deposits 422,289 64,547 34,576 61,896
Interest receivables 58,453 –   17,936 –   
Other receivables 180,625 829,658 3,939 –   
Advances to suppliers 53,174 183,696 –   –   
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (45,752) (164,073) –   –   

668,789 913,828 56,451 61,896

During the year, the Group has placed $387,187 (RMB 2,560,000) as an auction deposit to acquire the land use right 
from the Liuzhou Land Reserve and Transactions Authority to build its new production plant.

Group
2010 2009

$ $
Movement in allowance accounts:

At 1 December 164,073 –  
Charge for the year –  164,073 
Exchange difference 4,814 –   
Reversal (123,135) –   

At 30 November 45,752 164,073

13.	 Cash and short-term deposits

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009

$ $ $ $

Cash at bank 4,815,324 12,641,785 595,125 9,063,195
Short-term deposits 30,274,953 10,537,753 24,678,898 10,537,753

35,090,277 23,179,538 25,274,023 19,600,948

Short-term deposits are made for varying periods of between one day and depending on the immediate cash 
requirements of the Group, and earn interests at the respective short-term deposit rates. The interests earned range 
from 0.01% to 1.98% (2009: 0.10% to 1.175%) per annum.

Included in cash on hand and at bank is an amount of $585,248 (2009: $3,004,985) denominated in Singapore 
dollars.
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14.	 Trade payables

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-60 days terms.

15.	 Other payables

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009

$ $ $ $

Salaries and welfare payable 671 35,423 –   –   
Advances from customers 17,429 61,041 –   –   
Sundry creditors 539,917 194,415 10,131 1,566
Accrued liabilities 173,432 193,978 173,432 193,978

731,449 484,857 183,563 195,544

16.	 Deferred tax

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009

$ $ $ $

Deferred tax liabilities
Balance at beginning of the year (74,080) (56,610) –   (3,840)
Reversal/(provision) during the year 17,029 (17,470) –   3,840

Balance at end of the year (57,051) (74,080) –   –   

The deferred tax liability arise as a 
result of:

Future taxable income –   (62,265) –   –   
Undistributed reserves of subsidiaries (57,051) (11,815) –   –   

(57,051) (74,080) –   –   

Deferred tax assets
Differences in provisions 1,713 95,002 –   –   
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17.	 Share capital

Group and Company
2010 2009

$ $
Issued and fully paid:
Balance at beginning of year
 	 613,553,995 (2009: 368,132,397) ordinary shares 32,793,475 29,523,617

Issued in connection with Rights Issue
 	 Nil (2009: 245,421,598) ordinary shares –   3,406,454

Expenses incurred in connection with Rights Issue –   (136,596)

Balance at end of year
 	 613,553,995 (2009: 613,553,995) ordinary shares 32,793,475 32,793,475

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company. All ordinary 
shares carry one vote per share without restrictions.  The ordinary shares have no par value. 

18.	 Commitments

(a)	 Capital commitments

Capital expenditure contracted for as at the balance sheet date but not recognised in the financial statement is as 
follows:

Group 
2010 2009

$ $

Capital commitments in respect of property, plant and equipment 285,402 72,250

(b)	 Operating lease commitments

The Group has entered into commercial leases on plant and machinery where it is not in the best interest of the 
Group to purchase these assets.  These leases have an average life of 5 years.  There are no restrictions placed upon 
the lessee by entering into these leases.

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 30 November are as follows:

Not later than one year 130,622 283,975
Later than one year but not later than five years 137,465 92,675
Later than five years 19,385 22,650

287,472 399,300
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19.	 Staff costs

Group
2010 2009

$ $

Salaries and bonuses 965,870 934,364
Contribution to defined contribution plans 150,129 212,771

1,115,999 1,147,135

Included in staff costs is directors’ remuneration amounting to $193,015 (2009: $203,597).

20.	 Compensation of key management personnel

Group
2010 2009

$ $

Employee benefits expense
- salaries and bonus 537,894 408,513
- directors’ fees 304,881 299,952
- defined contribution plans 10,816 26,134
- other short term benefits 37,002 21,008

890,593 755,607

Comprise amounts paid to:
- Directors of the Company 497,897 503,549
- other key management personnel 392,696 252,058

890,593 755,607

21.	 Fair value of financial instruments

Determination of fair value

Fair values

The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged for or settled 
between knowledgeable and willing parties in an arm’s length transaction, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

Financial instruments whose carrying amount approximates fair value

Management has determined that the carrying amounts of cash and short-term deposits, trade and other receivables, 
and trade and other payables reasonably approximate their fair values because these are mostly short term in nature 
or are repriced frequently.
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21.	 Financial instruments (cont’d)

Classification of financial instruments

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009

$ $ $ $

Loans and receivables
Assets
Trade receivables 40,178 1,018,975 –   237,438
Other receivables 668,789 913,828 56,451 61,896
Cash and short-term deposits 35,090,277 23,179,538 25,274,023 19,600,948

35,799,244 25,112,341 25,330,474 19,900,282

Liabilities at amortised cost
Liabilities
Trade payables 11,536 291,592 2,236 12,849
Other payables and accruals 731,449 484,857 183,563 195,544

742,985 776,449 185,799 208,393

22.	 Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s principal financial instruments other than derivative financial instruments comprise cash and short-term 
deposits. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to finance the Group’s operations. The Group has 
various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from 
its operations.

The Group also enters into derivative transactions, including commodity futures contracts.  The purpose is to manage 
the price risks arising from the Group’s operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk, 
price risk and liquidity risk.  The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing risks and they are summarised 
below.

(a)	 Interest rate risk

The Group manages its interest rate risks on its interest income by placing cash balances with reputable banks and 
financial institutions.

The following table sets out the carrying amount, by maturity, of the Group’s financial instruments, that are exposed 
to interest rate risk:

Group
2010 2009

$ $

Within one year
Floating rate
Cash assets 34,495,152 20,159,223
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22.	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(a)	 Interest rate risk (cont’d)

Interest on financial instruments subject to floating interest rates is repriced regularly.  Interests on financial 
instruments at fixed rates are fixed until the maturity of the instruments.  The other financial instruments of the 
Group that are not included in the above table are not subjected to interest rate risks.

Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk

At the balance sheet date, if USD and Renminbi (“RMB”) interest rates had been 25 (2009: 50) basis points and 25 
(2009: 50) basis points lower/higher, respectively, with all other variables held constant, the Group’s profit net of tax 
would have been $69,500 (2009: $57,100) higher/lower, arising mainly as a result of lower/higher interest income 
from cash at bank and short-term deposits.

Increase/ 
decrease in 
basis points

Effect on 
profit/(loss) 
net of tax

Effect on 
equity

$ $

2010
- RMB +25 18,500 18,500
- USD +25 51,000 51,000

- RMB - 25 (18,500) (18,500)
- USD - 25 (51,000) (51,000)

2009
- RMB +50 (13,400) (13,400)
- USD +50 (43,700) (43,700)

- RMB - 50 13,400 13,400
- USD - 50 43,700 43,700

(b)	 Foreign currency risk

The Group has exposure to foreign exchange risk as a result of transactions denominated in foreign currencies arising 
from normal trading. The Group and the Company hold cash and cash equivalents denominated in foreign currencies 
for working capital purposes. At the balance sheet date, such foreign currency balances (mainly in SGD) amount to 
$585,248 and $585,248 (2009: $3,004,986 and $3,004,986) for the Group and the Company respectively.

The Group is also exposed to currency translation risk arising from its net investments in People’s Republic of China 
(“PRC”). The Group’s net investments in PRC are not hedged as currency positions in RMB are considered to be 
long-term in nature.

It is the Group’s policy not to enter into derivative forward foreign exchange contracts for speculative purposes.
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22.	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(b)	 Foreign currency risk (cont’d)

Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the SGD exchange rates (against 
USD), with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit/(loss) net of tax.

Group
2010 2009

$ $
Profit net  

of tax
Loss net  

of tax

SGD 	- strengthened 8% (2009: 8%) - 31,100 +147,800
	 - weakened 8% (2009: 8%) +31,100 - 147,800

(c)	 Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and credit worthy third parties.  It is the Group’s policy that all customers 
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances 
are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. For 
transactions that do not occur in the country of the relevant operating unit, the Group does not offer credit terms 
without the approval of the Head of Finance.

The carrying amounts due from a related party and cash and bank balances represent the Group’s maximum 
exposure to credit risk. No other financial assets carry a significant exposure to credit risk.

Exposure to credit risk

At the balance sheet date, the Group’s and the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the 
carrying amount of each class of financial assets recognised in the balance sheets, including derivatives with positive 
fair values.

At the balance sheet date, approximately 99% (2009: 97%) of the Group’s trade receivables were due from 1 (2009: 
3) customer(s). 

In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to bad 
debts is not significant. For transactions that do not occur in the country of the relevant operating unit, the Group 
does not offer credit terms without the approval of the Head of Finance.

(d)	 Price risk

The Group is principally engaged in the smelting and sales of non-ferrous metal and entered into futures contracts 
for the sale of Zinc. The prices of the Company’s products are influenced by global as well as regional supply and 
demand conditions. A decline in indium and zinc price could adversely affect the Company’s financial performance.

To manage fluctuations of price risk in certain raw materials and finished goods prices, the Group’s policy is to 
perform natural physical hedging and trading of commodity futures contracts.  This is achieved through matching 
raw material purchases to sales of finished goods at any one time.  As sales can be estimated based on order books, 
the Group controls the amount of raw materials purchased in the same period so as to limit its exposure to price 
fluctuations.

The Group has no commodity future contracts entered into as at balance sheet date. 
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22.	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(e)	 Liquidity risk

The Group aims to maintain sufficient cash and credit lines to meet its liquidity requirements. The Group finances 
its working capital requirements through funds generated from operations and proceeds received during the Initial 
Public Offering and the Rights Issue.

The Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted payments mature within one year and represent 
trade and other payables as at 30 November 2010 and 30 November 2009.

Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company’s financial assets and liabilities at 
the end of the reporting period based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations.

1 year or less
2010 2009

$ $

Group
Financial assets
Trade receivables 40,178 1,018,975
Other receivables 668,789 913,828
Interest receivables 69,639 51,209
Cash and short-term deposits 35,090,277 23,179,538

Total undiscounted financial assets 35,868,883 25,163,550

Financial liabilities
Trade payables 11,536 291,592
Other payables and accruals 731,449 484,857

Total undiscounted financial liabilities 742,985 776,449

Total net undiscounted financial assets 35,125,898 24,387,101

Company
Financial assets
Trade receivables –   237,438
Other receivables 56,451 61,896
Interest receivables 57,100 43,700
Cash and short-term deposits 25,274,023 19,600,948

Total undiscounted financial assets 25,387,574 19,943,982

Financial liabilities
Trade payables 2,236 12,849
Other payables and accruals 183,563 195,544

Total undiscounted financial liabilities 185,799 208,393

Total net undiscounted financial assets 25,201,775 19,735,589
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23.	 Capital management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and 
healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions.  To 
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to 
shareholders or issue new shares.  No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years 
ended 30 November 2010 and 30 November 2009.

Group
Note 2010 2009

$ $

Trade and other payables 742,985 776,449
Other liabilities 260,595 –   
Less: Cash and short-term deposits 10 35,090,277 23,179,538

Net cash 34,086,697 22,403,089

Equity attributable to the equity holders of the parent 37,004,251 36,332,408
Less: Statutory reserve fund (2,029,488) (2,019,670)

Total capital 34,974,763 34,312,738

Capital and net cash 888,066 11,909,649

Gearing ratio NA NA

As disclosed in the statement of changes in equity, the subsidiaries of the Group are required by the Foreign 
Enterprise Law of the PRC to contribute to and maintain a non-distributable statutory reserve fund whose utilisation 
is subject to approval by the relevant PRC authorities. This externally imposed capital requirement has been complied 
with by the above-mentioned subsidiaries for the financial year ended 30 November 2010.

The Group is currently in a net cash position. The Group’s policy is to minimise the gearing ratio. The net cash includes 
trade and other payables, other liabilities, less cash and short-term deposits. Capital includes equity attributable to 
the equity holders of the parent less the abovementioned restricted statutory reserve fund. 
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24.	 Segment information

For management purposes, the Group is currently organised into three main business activities. The business 
activities are the basis on which the Group reports to the chief operating decision maker for the purposes of resource 
allocation and assessment of segment performance.

The three main business activities are as follows:

a)	 Indium ingots – manufacturing and trading of indium ingots

b)	 Other products – manufacturing and trading of other products

c)	 Other by-products – manufacturing and trading of other by-products

Segment revenue and expense: Segment revenue and expense are the operating revenue and expense reported 
in the Group’s profit or loss that are directly attributable to a segment and the relevant portion of such revenue and 
expense that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to a segment to arrive at segment results.

Segment performance is evaluated based on operating profit or loss which in certain respects, as explained in the 
table below, is measured differently from operating profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements.

Segment assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated 
on a reasonable basis.  Unallocated items mainly comprise corporate assets and expenses, income tax and deferred 
tax assets and liabilities.

The Group generally accounts for inter-segment sales and transfers as if the sales or transfers were to their parties 
at current market prices.

The measurement basis of the Group’s reportable segments is in accordance with its accounting policy as described 
in Note 2.

Geographical information

The Group’s geographical information are based on the location of the Group’s assets. Sales to external customers 
disclosed in geographical segments are based on the geographical location of its customers.

Information about major customers

Revenues from three major customers in the indium ingot segment amounted to approximately US$9,000,000 
(2009: US$2,000,000).

Revenues from two major customers in the other products segment amounted to approximately US$8,400,000 
(2009: US$2,100,000).

Apart from this largest customer, there was no other single customer that contributed more than 10% of the 
consolidated revenue for the financial years ended 30 November 2010 and 2009.
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24.	 Segment information (cont’d)

The following table presents revenue and results information regarding the Group’s reportable operating segments 
for the financial years ended 30 November 2010 and 2009.

Indium
Other 

products
Other by-
products Elimination Total

$ $ $ $ $

2010
Segment revenue
- Sales to external customers 13,146,744 9,339,761 808,215 –   23,294,720
- Inter-segment sales 4,732,672 –   35,790 (4,768,462) –   

Total revenue 17,879,416 9,339,761 844,005 (4,768,462) 23,294,720

Interest income –   –   –   –   117,977
Depreciation of property, plant and 

equipment (94,165) (497,164) (13,430) –   (604,759)
Impairment loss on property, plant and 

equipment (20,282) (230,000) –   –   (250,282)
Research and development expenses –   (433,173) –   –   (433,173)
Reversal of write-down of inventories, 

net 984,134 (121,393) (68,863) –   793,878
Net realised loss on derivative financial 

instruments –   –   (9,795) –   (9,795)
Reversal of allowance for doubtful 

debts –   –   123,135 –   123,135
Segment profit/(loss) 2,847,448 (706,732) 205,064 (1,724,255) 621,525

Assets:
Segment assets 1,332,851 1,253,781 28,821 (580,475) 2,034,978
Unallocated assets –   –   –   –   36,029,904

Liabilities:
Segment liabilities 482,543 2,555 1,172,256 (1,648,865) 8,489
Deferred tax liability –   –   –   –   57,051
Tax payable –   –   –   –   260,595
Unallocated liabilities –   –   –   –   734,496

Other segment information:
Capital expenditure on property, plant 

and equipment (81,362) (267,457) (1,227) –   (350,046)
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24.	 Segment information (cont’d)

Indium
Other 

products
Other by-
products Elimination Total

$ $ $ $ $

2009
Segment revenue
- Sales to external customers 2,351,201 5,116,856 1,655,491 –   9,123,548
- Inter-segment sales 98,440 14,717 1,203,636 (1,316,793) –   

Total revenue 2,449,641 5,131,573 2,859,127 (1,316,793) 9,123,548

Interest income –   –   –   –   46,860
Depreciation of property, plant and 

equipment (104,076) (618,459) (82,176) –   (804,711)
Impairment loss on property, plant and 

equipment –   (309,872) –   –   (309,872)
Research and development expenses –   (342,968) –   –   (342,968)
Reversal of write-down of inventories, 

net 1,166,076 1,604,646 (95,321) –   2,675,401
Net realised loss on derivative financial 

instruments –   –   (791,590) –   (791,590)
Allowance for doubtful debts –   –   (164,073) –   (164,073)
Segment loss (1,303,899) (2,213,874) (54,200) 29,398 (3,542,575)

Assets:
Segment assets 8,137,157 1,656,961 3,202,429 (172,073) 12,824,474
Unallocated assets –   –   –   –   24,358,463

Liabilities:
Segment liabilities 297,026 148,717 1,136,168 (1,295,171) 286,740
Deferred tax liability –   –   –   –   74,080
Unallocated liabilities –   –   –   –   489,709

Other segment information:
Capital expenditure on property, plant 

and equipment (1,070) (587,202) –   –   (588,272)
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24.	 Segment information (cont’d)

China/
Hong Kong

Japan/
Korea

USA/
Europe Singapore Total

$ $ $ $ $

2010
Segment revenue
- External 17,518,467 1,940,865 3,835,388 –   23,294,720

Segment assets 12,549,974 –   –   25,514,908 38,064,882

Capital expenditure on property, plant 
and equipment (268,685) –   –   (81,361) (350,046)

2009
Segment revenue
- External 8,507,583 492,190 123,775 –   9,123,548

Segment assets 14,944,962 –   –   22,237,975 37,182,937

Capital expenditure on property, plant 
and equipment (587,202) –   –   (1,070) (588,272)

25.	 Authorisation of financial statements for issue

The financial statements of the year ended 30 November 2010 were authorised for issue in accordance with a 
resolution of the Directors on 23 February 2011.
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Class of shares : Ordinary share 
Voting rights : One vote per share

The Company does not hold any Treasury Shares.

STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS

Size of Shareholding
Number of 

Shareholders %
Number 

of Shares %

1 - 999 	 43 1.54 	 1,694 0.00
1,000 - 10,000	 826 29.57 	 5,446,517 0.89

10,001 - 1,000,000	 1,893 67.78 	 134,343,875 21.90
1,000,001 and above	 31 1.11 	 473,761,909 77.21

	 2,793 100.00 	 613,553,995 100.00

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
(As recorded in the Register of Substantial Shareholders)

Name Direct Interest %
Indirect/Deemed 

Interest %

Huang Wei (1) NIL 0 73,014,555 11.90

Zeng Fuzu (2)  93,391,918   15.22 111,401,702 18.16

Huang Guozhi (3) NIL 0 47,778,889 7.79

Grasmere Park Limited (1) 73,014,555 11.90 NIL 0

Ultra Plus Ventures Ltd (2) NIL 0 111,401,702 18.16
Precious Stream Holdings Limited (3) NIL 0 47,665,014 7.77

Notes:

(1) 	 Mr. Huang Wei has a deemed interest in shares held by Grasmere Park Limited (“Grasmere”) by virtue of his 100% ownership in 
Grasmere.

(2) 	 Mr. Zeng Fuzu has a deemed interest in shares held by Ultra Plus Ventures Ltd (“Ultra Plus”) by virtue of his 100% ownership in 
Ultra Plus. The shares held by Ultra Plus are registered in the name of DBS Nominees (Pte) Limited.

(3) 	 Mr. Huang Guozhi is deemed interested in 47,665,014 shares held by Precious Stream Holdings Limited by virtue of his 100% 
ownership in Precious Stream Holdings Limited. The total of 47,778,889 shares are registered in the name of DBS Nominees (Pte) 
Limited.

SHAREHOLDERS’ INFORMATION 
AS AT 14 FEBRUARY 2011
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TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS 

No. Name of Shareholders Number of Shares %

1. DBS Nominees Pte Ltd 	 193,381,519 	 31.52
2. Zeng Fuzu 	 93,391,918 	 15.22
3. Grasmere Park Limited 	 73,014,555 	 11.90
4. Kim Eng Securities Pte. Ltd 	 13,228,999 	 2.16
5. Phillip Securities Pte Ltd 	 11,754,665 	 1.92
6. Merrill Lynch (Singapore) Pte Ltd 	 9,741,000 	 1.59
7. OCBC Securities Private Ltd 	 9,255,444 	 1.51
8. Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd 	 8,128,666 	 1.32
9. DBS Vickers Securities (S) Pte Ltd 	 6,638,000 	 1.08
10. United Overseas Bank Nominees Pte Ltd 	 5,761,665 	 0.94
11. Royal Bank of Canada (Asia) Ltd 	 4,200,000 	 0.68
12. UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd 	 4,182,000 	 0.68
13. Lim & Tan Securities Pte Ltd 	 3,923,998 	 0.64
14. Raffles Nominees (Pte) Ltd 	 3,541,666 	 0.58
15. Liong Peng Fun 	 3,200,000 	 0.52
16. Xu Renwei 	 3,073,000 	 0.50
17. Ng Kim Huat 	 3,000,000 	 0.49
18. Zhang Dongliang 	 2,986,666 	 0.49
19. Foo Seng Ngan 	 2,714,150 	 0.44
20. Chan Kwok Weng 	 2,700,000 	 0.44

	 457,817,911 	 74.62

PERCENTAGE OF SHAREHOLDING IN PUBLIC’S HANDS

45.18% of the Company’s shares are held in the hands of public.  Accordingly, the Company has complied with Rule 723 
of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST.
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of UNIONMET (SINGAPORE) LIMITED (the “Company”) will 
be held at Amara Hotel Singapore, Connection 1, Level 3, 165 Tanjong Pagar Road, Singapore 088539 on Wednesday, 23 
March 2011 at 10.00 am for the following purposes:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1.	 To receive and adopt the Directors’ Report and the Audited Accounts of the Company for the year ended 30 
November 2010 together with the Auditors’ Report thereon.	 (Resolution 1)

		
2.	 To re-elect the following Directors retiring pursuant to Article 89 of the Company’s Articles of Association:

Mr. Zeng Fuzu (Resolution 2)
Mr. Meng Limin (Resolution 3)
Mr. Low Weng Keong (Resolution 4)

	 Mr. Zeng Fuzu will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain a member of the Audit, Nominating and 
Remuneration Committees and will be considered non‑independent for the purposes of Rule 704(8) of the Listing 
Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”).

	 Mr. Low Weng Keong will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain a Chairman of the Audit Committee 
and a member of the Nominating and Remuneration Committees and will be considered independent for the 
purposes of Rule 704(8) of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”).

		
3.	 To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$320,000 for the year ending 30 November 2011 to be paid quarterly 

in arrears (2010: S$420,000).	 (Resolution 5)

4.	 To re-appoint Ernst & Young LLP as the Company’s Auditors and to authorise the Directors to fix their 
remuneration.	 (Resolution 6)

5.	 To transact any other ordinary business which may properly be transacted at an Annual General Meeting.	

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolution as Ordinary Resolution:
		
6.	 SHARE ISSUE MANDATE

	 That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 and Rule 806 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore 
Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”), authority be given to the Directors of the Company to issue shares 
(“Shares”) whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise, and/or make or grant offers, agreements or options 
(collectively, “Instruments”) that might or would require Shares to be issued, including but not limited to the creation 
and issue of (as well as adjustments to) warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible into Shares at any 
time and upon such terms and conditions and to such persons as the Directors may, in their absolute discretion, 
deem fit provided that: 

(a)	 the aggregate number of Shares (including Shares to be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted 
pursuant to this Resolution) does not exceed fifty percent (50%) of the total number of issued shares (excluding 
treasury shares) in the capital of the Company at the time of the passing of this Resolution, of which the aggregate 
number of Shares and convertible securities to be issued other than on a pro rata basis to all shareholders of the 
Company shall not exceed twenty percent (20%) of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in 
the capital of the Company;
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(b)	 for the purpose of determining the aggregate number of Shares that may be issued under sub-paragraph (a) above, 
the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) shall be based on the total number of issued shares 
(excluding treasury shares) of the Company as at the date of the passing of this Resolution, after adjusting for:

 
(i) 	 new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of convertible securities;
 
(ii) 	 new shares arising from exercising share options or vesting of Share awards outstanding or subsisting at the 

time this Resolution is passed; and
 
(iii) 	 any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares;

 
(c)	 And that such authority shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, continue in force (i) 

until the conclusion of the Company’s next Annual General Meeting or the date by which the next Annual General 
Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier or (ii) in the case of shares to be issued 
in accordance with the terms of convertible securities issued, made or granted pursuant to this Resolution, until the 
issuance of such shares in accordance with the terms of such convertible securities; 

		  [See Explanatory Note]
		  (Resolution 7)	

By Order of the Board

Busarakham Kohsikaporn
Toh Lei Mui 
Company Secretaries

Singapore, 7 March 2011

Explanatory Note on Resolution to be passed:

The Ordinary Resolution 7 proposed in item 6 above, if passed, will empower the Directors from the date of the above 
Meeting until the date of the next Annual General Meeting, to allot and issue Shares and convertible securities in the 
Company up to an amount not exceeding fifty percent (50%) of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury 
shares) in the capital of the Company, of which up to twenty percent (20%) may be issued other than on a pro rata 
basis.

Notes:

1.	 A Member entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting (the “Meeting”) is entitled to appoint a proxy 
to attend and vote in his/her stead.  A proxy need not be a Member of the Company.

2.	 If the appointor is a corporation, the instrument appointing a proxy must be executed under seal or the hand of its 
duly authorised officer or attorney.

	
3.	 The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at 8 Shenton Way 

#42-02 Singapore 068811 not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting.
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PROXY FORM
(Please see notes overleaf before completing this Form)

*I/We, 

of

being a member/members of  Unionmet (Singapore) Limited  (the “Company”), hereby appoint:

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings
No. of Shares %

Address

and/or (delete as appropriate)

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings
No. of Shares %

Address

or failing *him/her, the Chairman of the Meeting as *my/our *proxy/proxies to vote for *me/us on *my/our behalf at 
the Annual General Meeting (the “Meeting”) of the Company to be held on 23 March 2011 at 10.00 am and at any 
adjournment thereof.  *I/We direct *my/our *proxy/proxies to vote for or against the Resolutions proposed at the Meeting 
as indicated hereunder.  If no specific direction as to voting is given or in the event of any other matter arising at the 
Meeting and at any adjournment thereof, the *proxy/proxies will vote or abstain from voting at *his/her discretion. The 
authority herein includes the right to demand or to join in demanding a poll and to vote on a poll.

(Please indicate your vote “For” or “Against” with a tick [√] within the box provided.)

No. Resolutions relating to:  For Against
1. Directors’ Report and Audited Accounts for the year ended 30 November 2010
2. Re-election of Mr. Zeng Fuzu as a Director
3. Re-election of Mr. Meng Limin as a Director
4. Re-election of Mr. Low Weng Keong as a Director
5. Approval of Directors’ fees amounting to S$320,000
6. Re-appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as Auditors
7. Share Issue Mandate

 
*Delete where inapplicable

Dated this day of 2011

Total number of Shares in: No. of Shares
(a)  CDP Register
(b)  Register of Members

Signature of Shareholder(s)/
and, Common Seal of Corporate Shareholder

IMPORTANT:

1.	 For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy 
Unionmet (Singapore) Limited’s shares, this Report is 
forwarded to them at the request of the CPF Approved 
Nominees and is sent solely FOR INFORMATION ONLY.

2.	 This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF investors and 
shall be ineffective for all intents and purposes if used or 
purported to be used by them.

3.	 CPF investors who wish to vote should contact their CPF 
Approved Nominees.



Notes:

1.	 Please insert the total number of Shares held by you.  If you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository 
Register (as defined in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 of Singapore), you should insert that number of 
Shares.  If you have Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number of 
Shares.  If you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and Shares registered in your name 
in the Register of Members, you should insert the aggregate number of Shares entered against your name in the 
Depository Register and registered in your name in the Register of Members.  If no number is inserted, the instrument 
appointing a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to relate to all the Shares held by you.

2.	 A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint one or two 
proxies to attend and vote in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

3.	 Where a member appoints two proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless he/she specifies the proportion of his/
her shareholding (expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy.

4.	 The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 8 Shenton 
Way #42-02 Singapore 068811 not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for the Meeting.

5.	 The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised 
in writing.  Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either 
under its seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised.  Where the instrument appointing a proxy or 
proxies is executed by an attorney on behalf of the appointor, the letter or power of attorney or a duly certified copy 
thereof must be lodged with the instrument.

6.	 A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as it 
thinks fit to act as its representative at the Meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 of 
Singapore.

General:

The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed 
or illegible or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified 
in the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies.  In addition, in the case of Shares entered in the Depository Register, the 
Company may reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if the member, being the appointor, is not shown 
to have Shares entered against his name in the Depository Register as at forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for 
holding the Meeting, as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.
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